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Strategic report Governance

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc

1. OUR OPINION IS UNMODIFIED
Inour opinion:

- thefinancial statements of Auto Trader Group plc give atrue and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2025, and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;
- the Group financial statements have been properly preparedin accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards;

- the Parent Company financial statements have been properly preparedin accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

- the Group and Parent Company financial statements have been preparedin accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

What our opinion covers
We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc (‘the Company’) for the year ended 31 March 2025 (FY25) included in the Annual Report and Financial Statements,
which comprise:

Group Parent Company (Auto Trader Group plc)

Consolidatedincome statement Company balance sheet

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income Company statement of changesin equity

Consolidated balance sheet Notes1to12 to the Parent Company financial statements, including the accounting policiesin note 2.

Consolidated statement of changesin equity

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes1to 35to the Group financial statements, including the accounting policiesin note 2.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our auditinaccordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ('ISAs (UK)') and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
isasufficientand appropriate basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion and mattersincludedin thisreportare consistent with those discussed and includedin our reporting to the Audit Committee (‘AC’).

We have fulfilled our ethicalresponsibilities under,and we remainindependent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard as applied to listed public
interest entities.

2. OVERVIEW OF OURAUDIT
FACTORS DRIVING OUR VIEW OF RISKS

On 22 June 2022 the Company acquired Autorama UK Limited (‘Autorama’). The carrying value of the Autorama cash generating unit Keyauditmatters V?Z:r"' tem
is £132.6m at 31 March 2025, including £92.5m of goodwill for which an annualimpairment testis required under IAS 36 to assessiits FesoveTel i oF geed sl AVGrsmd o 21
recoverable amount. For the consolidated financial statements, recoverability of goodwill relating to Autoramais a significant risk )
forour audit, and a key audit matter. This reflects the judgement required to estimate growth inrevenue cash flows, particularly the ~ Revenue recognition - Trade Retailer O 4.2
number of new car leases transacted and market share. The recoverability of goodwillrelating to Autoramawas also asignificant  Trgnsfer of investment in Autorama from the Parent + 4.3

riskand key audit matterin the prioryear. Company (Parent Company)

During the year, the Parent Company transferredits investmentin Autorama down to another subsidiary company. We have
identified a key audit matterinrelation to this within the Parent Company financial statements, asitis anindividually significant
transaction, on which we have spent the most audit time in the context of the Parent Company audit.

We have alsoidentified a key audit matterrelating to revenue recognition over Trade Retailer revenue. Thisis the main driver of
the Group’'sresults, andits sizeisreflectedin the allocation of our resourcesin planning and executing the Group audit. Consistent
with the prioryear, we do not consider this to be asignificant audit risk of material misstatement, as based on our cumulative audit
experience, we have concluded that thereisno material judgement or estimation in Trade Retailer revenue recognition and a low
risk of fraudulent material misstatement, given the low value and high volume of individual transactions.

AUDIT COMMITTEEINTERACTION

During the year, the Audit Committee met four times. KPMG are invited to attend all Audit Committee meetings and are provided with an opportunity to meet with the Audit Committee in private sessions
without the Executive Directors being present. For each Key Audit Matter, we have set out communications with the Audit Committee in section 4,including matters thatrequired particular judgement for
each. The mattersincludedin the Audit Committee Chair’'sreporton pages 87 to 91are materially consistent with our observations of those meetings.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

Governance

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OURINDEPENDENCE

We have fulfilled our ethicalresponsibilities under, and we remainindependent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical
requirementsincluding the FRC Ethical Standard as applied to listed publicinterest entities.

We have not performed any non-auditservices during FY25 or subsequently which are prohibited by the FRC Ethical Standard.

We were first appointed as auditor by the shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2017. The period of totaluninterrupted
engagementis for the nine financial years ended 31 March 2025.

The Group engagement partner,whois also responsible for the component audits as set outin section 7,isrequired to rotate every 5
years. As these are the fifth set of the Group's financial statements signed by David Derbyshire, he will rotate of f after the FY25 audit.

Total audit fee £589,500
Auditrelated fees (includinginterimreview) £55,000
Otherservices £16,000
Non-audit fee as a % of total audit and audit 2.5%

related fee %

Date first appointed

22 September 2016

Uninterrupted audit tenure 9years
Next financial period which requires a tender 31 March 2027
Tenure of Group engagement partner S5years
Average tenure of component partner Syears

MATERIALITY (ITEM 6 BELOW)

The scope of our workis influenced by our view of materiality and our assessed risk of material misstatement.

We have determined overall materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole at £18.1m (FY24: £16.5m) and for the Parent
Company financial statements as awhole at £12.9m (FY24: £12.8m).

Consistent with FY24, we determined that profit before taxremains the benchmark for the Group asiitis the metric which best
reflects the focus of the financial statements’ users. As such, we based our Group materiality on profit before tax, of whichit
represents 4.8% (FY24:4.8%).

Materiality for the Parent Company financial statements was determined with reference to abenchmark of Parent Company total
assets, limitedin the currentyear to be less than Group materiality as awhole. It represents 0.62% (FY24: 0.75%) of the benchmark.

Materiality levels usedin our audit

orovpmaterioy (N T

£16.5m
Group performance m
materiality

£12.3m
Component m
materiality
£15.5m

Parent Company £17.0m
materiality -

£12.8m

Audit misstatement
. £0.9m
posting threshold . EC())B
.8m

@ FY25
® FY24
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

GROUP SCOPE (ITEM 7 BELOW)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have performedrisk assessment procedures to determine which of the Group’s components are likely toinclude risks of material Coverage of Group financial statements
misstatement to the Group financial statements, and what audit procedures to perform at these components. Our audit procedures covered 93% of Group revenue.

Of the Group's five components identified, we performed audit procedures over two components, including the Parent Company. We performed audit procedures at the components that accounted
Work onthe components was performed by the Group auditor. for95% of Group profit before tax and 28% of Group total assets.

The components within the scope of our work accounted for the percentages shown opposite. In addition, at the Group level, we performed audit procedures over
goodwillandintangible assets and the related amortisation expense,
thattogether account for 69% of total Group assets and 3% of Group

profitbefore tax.

Inaddition, for the remaining components for which we performed no audit procedures, we performed analysis at an aggregated
Group level tore-examine our assessment that thereis not areasonable possibility of a material misstatementin these components.

We consider the scope of our audit, as communicated to the Audit Committee, to be an appropriate basis for our audit opinion.

THEIMPACT OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON OUR AUDIT

In planning our audit, we have considered the potentialimpact of risks arising from climate change on the Group’s business and its financial statements. The Group has set outits commitments under
the Paris Agreement to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2040. Furtherinformationis providedin the Group’s Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (‘TCFD’) recommended disclosures
onpages 33to50.

As apartof our audit we have performed arisk assessment, including making enquiries of management, reading board meeting minutes and applying our knowledge of the Group and sector in which
itoperates tounderstand the extent of the potentialimpact of climate changeriskon the Group's financial statements and to consider the impact of climate change on our audit.

Ourrisk assessment focused on therisk climate change may pose to the determination of future cash flows used in assessments such asimpairment risk. On the basis of our risk assessment, we
determined that the recoverable amount of goodwillin Autorama is the area which willbe the mostimpacted.

As explainedin note12 of the financial statements, in preparing the value-in-use calculations management has projected sales growth in the Autorama Cash Generating Unit (‘CGU’), based on forecast
growthinnew carleases. Thisgrowthisin partimpacted by the transition to electric vehicles and how these vehicles are sold and distributed. Our audit response to the key audit matter of the recoverability
of goodwill therefore considers climate change factors, such as UK regulations affecting transition to new electric vehicles. Please refer to this key audit matter response for further details.

Takinginto account therelatively short-term nature of other assets we have notidentified any otherimpacts of climate change on our key audit matters. We have read the Group’s TCFD in the front half
of the AnnualReport and considered consistency with the financial statements and our audit knowledge. We have not been engaged to provide assurance over the accuracy of the climate risk
disclosures set out on pages 33 to 50 in the Annual Report.

3. GOING CONCERN, VIABILITY AND PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do notintend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded
thatthe Group’s and the Parent Company’s financial position means that thisis realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their
ability to continue as a going concern for atleast ayear from the date of approval of the financial statements (‘the going concern period’).
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

GOING CONCERN
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We have used our knowledge of the Group, its industry, and the generaleconomic environment to identify the inherent
risks toits business modeland analysed how those risks might affect the Group’s and Company’s financial resources or
ability to continue operations over the going concern period. The risk that we considered most likely to adversely affect
the Group’'s and Company'’s available financial resources and metrics relevant to financial covenants over this period
was lower-than-forecast revenues arising from reduced consumer demand in the automotive market.

We also considered less predictable butrealistic second orderimpacts, such as reputationalrisk arising from a
ransomware attack and a consequential erosion of customer confidence, which could resultin a rapid reduction of
available financialresources.

We considered whether these risks could plausibly affect the Group’s liquidity or covenant compliance in the going
concern period by assessing the degree of downside assumptions that, individually and collectively, could resultin
aliquidity shortfall, taking into account the Group’s current and projected cash and borrowing facilities (areverse
stress test).

We also assessed the completeness of the going concern disclosure.

Accordingly, based onthose procedures, we found the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting without
any materialuncertainty for the Group and Parent Company to be acceptable.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may resultin outcomes that
areinconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are nota
guarantee that the Group or the Parent Company will continue in operation.

Our conclusions

+ We consider that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
inthe preparation of the financial statementsis appropriate;

+ We have notidentified, and concur with the Directors’ assessment that there
isnota materialuncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or Parent Company'’s
ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period;

statementinnote1to the financial statements on the use of the going concern
basis of accounting with no materialuncertainties that may cast significant
doubt over the Group and Parent Company’s use of that basis for the going
concern period, and we found the going concern disclosureinnoteito be
acceptable; and

consistentwith the financial statements and our audit knowledge.

We have nothing material to add or draw attention toinrelation to the Directors’

Therelated statementunder the UK Listing Rules set out on page 72 is materially

DISCLOSURES OF EMERGING AND PRINCIPAL RISKS AND LONGER-TERM VIABILITY

Ourresponsibility

We are required to perform procedures to identify whether there isamaterialinconsistency between the Directors’
disclosuresinrespect of emerging and principalrisks and the viability statement, and the financial statements and our
auditknowledge.

Based on those procedures, we have nothing material to add or draw attention toinrelation to:

the Directors’ confirmation within the viability statement on pages 71to 72 that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the emerging and principalrisks facing the Group, including those that would threatenits business
model, future performance, solvency and liquidity;

the Principal Risks and Uncertainties disclosures describing these risks and how emerging risks are identified and
explaining how they are being managed and mitigated; and

the Directors’ explanationin the viability statement of how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over
what period they have done so and why they considered that period to be appropriate, and their statement as
towhether they have areasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meetits
liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention
to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We are alsorequired to review the viability statement set out on page pages 71to 72 under the UK Listing Rules.

Ourworkis limited to assessing these mattersin the context of only the knowledge acquired during our financial
statements audit. As we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may resultin outcomes
thatareinconsistent withjudgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of anything to
report onthese statementsis not a guarantee as to the Group’s and Parent Company’s longer-term viability.

Ourreporting
We have nothing material to add or draw attention toinrelation to these disclosures.

We have concluded that these disclosures are materially consistent with the financial

statements and our audit knowledge.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

4.KEY AUDIT MATTERS

WHAT WE MEAN

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professionaljudgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements and include the most significant assessed risks of material
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including those which had the greatest effect on:

- the overall audit strategy;
- theallocation of resourcesin the audit; and
- directing the efforts of the engagement team.

Weinclude below the Key Audit Mattersindecreasing order of audit significance together with our key audit procedures to address those matters and our results from those procedures. These matters were
addressed, and our results are based on procedures undertaken, for the purpose of our audit of the financial statements as a whole. We do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

4.1Recoverability of goodwill relating to Autorama

Financial Statement Elements Our assessment of risk vs FY24 Ourresults
FY25 FY24
Recoverability of Group Autorama goodwill £92.5m £92.5m 4p Ourassessmentisthattheriskisunchanged from the prioryear. FY25: Acceptable
Goodwill This reflects the continued judgementrequired to estimate growth FY24: Acceptable
inrevenue cash flows over the forecast period.
Description of the Key Audit Matter Ourresponse to therisk

Forecast-based assessment We performed the tests below rather than seeking torely on any of the Group’s controls because the nature
We have identified asignificant audit risk,and a key audit matter, over the recoverability of the of the balanceis such that we would expect to obtain audit evidence primarily through the detailed
Autorama goodwilldue to theinherentuncertainty involvedin forecasting and discounting future procedures described.

cashflows,andinparticular, estimating the future number of new car leases transacted and
marketshare. The new car market, including leasing, isimpacted by changesinnew car supply,
distribution and the transition to electric vehicles.

Our procedures to address theriskincluded:

Historical comparisons: assessing the ability of the Group to forecast accurately, by comparing prior
period forecasts of revenue growth assumptions to the actualoutcomes.

Benchmarking assumptions: challenging the revenue growth assumptionsin the value in use calculation
by comparing management’'s new car market growth assumptions against relative comparative
externaldata (such as new car and leasing market data which reflect market expectations, including
the impact of electric vehicle transition).

Tests of detail: agreeing information used by the Group in their growth forecast to supporting evidence,
including sales contracts, to evidence OEM supply; consumer audience data relating to the Auto Trader
marketplace; and datarelating to lease rate trends.

Risk assessment: conducting risk assessment procedures for the long-term growth rate, and discount
rate, utilising comparable market data.

Sensitivity analysis: performing our own sensitivity analysis, including areasonably possible reduction
inthe value and timing of forecast revenue growth and an alternative long term growth rate to assess the
level of sensitivity to the revenue assumptions.

Assessing transparency: assessing whether the Group’s disclosures relating to the sensitivity of the
outcome of theimpairment assessment to reasonably possible adverse changesin forecastrevenue
growth sufficiently reflected the risksinherentin estimating the recoverable amount of goodwill.

The effect of these mattersis that, as part of our risk assessment for audit planning purposes,
we determined thatvalue inuse of the Autorama cash generating unit (‘CGU’) had a highdegree
of estimationuncertainty, with a potential range of reasonable outcomes greater than our
materiality for the financial statements asawhole.

The consolidated financial statements (Note 12) disclose the sensitivity estimated by the Group.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

Communications with Auto Trader Group plc’s Audit Committee
Our discussions with andreporting to the Audit Committee included:

- Ourapproach and conclusion onthe appropriateness of the impairment assessment performed by management, and of the key assumptions made in determining the recoverable amount based
onvalueinuse;and
- the adequacy of the consolidated financial statementdisclosures, including as they relate to the sensitivity of the recoverable amount to changesin key assumptions.

Areas of particular auditor judgement
We identified the following as the areas of particular auditor judgement:

- The appropriateness of the model, and particularly the key assumptions used in the model, including revenue growth, achieved through a higher forecast market share.

Ourresults
- We foundthe Group’s conclusion that there is noimpairment of Autorama goodwill to be acceptable (2024: acceptable).

Furtherinformationin the AnnualReport and Accounts: See the Audit Committee Report on page 88 for details on how the Audit Committee considered the recoverability of Autorama goodwillas anarea
of significant attention, page 136 for the accounting policy onimpairment, and note 12 for the financial disclosures.
4.2 Revenue recognition - Trade Retailer

Financial Statement Elements Our assessment of risk vs FY24 Ourresults

FY25 FY24

Trade Retailerrevenue £474.3m £450.0m <4p Ourassessmentisthatthe riskis similarto FY24, reflectingthe  FY25: Acceptable

fact that the majority of the Group’s revenue processing is FY24: Acceptable
performed and recognised on a consistent basisinbothyears.

Description of the Key Audit Matter Ourresponse to therisk

Data processing error

Trade Retailer revenue primarily consists of fees for advertising on the Group's website and related
dataand access services. Thereis a high volume of transactions, no significant concentration of
customers and avariety of set packages. Retailers have the ability to select the combination of

Our procedures to address theriskincluded:

Control design and operation: testing the design,implementation and operating effectiveness
of bankreconciliation controls, to provide evidence over reliability of cash datausedin our tests

i of detail.
r tstheyr ive. . . . . . e
IO - Accounting analysis: inspecting contractual terms, including modifications to standard terms agreed
Based onour cumulative audit experience, we have concluded that there isnot a material judgement inthe year, toidentify performance obligations and determine the timing of revenue recognition.

orsignificant estimation uncertainty in revenue recognition and no significant opportunity for
fraudulent material misstatement, given the low value and high volume of individual transactions. the billing system to the accounting records.

We continue to consider Auto Trader Trade Retailer revenue recognition to be a key audit matter as Tests of detail: using computer assisted audit techniques to match the entire population of Trade
itisthe main driver of the Group'sresults, andits size is reflected in the allocation of our resourcesin Retailer sales transactions recorded in the accounts to the billing system and from the billing system
planning and executing the audit. tocashreceived and tradereceivables (including accrued income) outstanding at the year end.
Tests of detail: using computer assisted Al transaction scoring to identify higher and medium
scoring Trade Retailer sales transactions, for testing using statistical sampling techniques.

Data comparisons: using computer assisted audit techniques to match sales information from
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

Description of the Key Audit Matter Ourresponse to therisk

Communications with Auto Trader Group plc’s Audit Committee
Ourdiscussions with and reporting to the Audit Committee included:

- Our planned audit approach forrevenue testing, including our rebuttal of the presumed risk of material misstatement of revenue as aresult of fraud and our use of computer assisted audit techniques.
- Ourfindings from our computer assisted audit techniques, which matched sales transactions between the accounts, the billing system, and cash received and trade receivables outstanding at year end.
- Our findings from our Al transactional scoring procedure, which identified higher or medium scoring revenue transactions for further substantive testing.

Areas of particular auditor judgement
- Weidentified no areas of particular auditor judgement.

Ourresults
- We considered the amount of Trade Retailer revenue recognised in the year to be acceptable (2024: acceptable).

Furtherinformationinthe AnnualReport and Accounts: See the Audit Committee Report on page 88 for details on how the Audit Committee considered revenue recognition as an area of significant attention,
pages132to133 forthe accounting policy onrevenue,and note 5 for the financial disclosures.

4.3 Transfer of investment in Autorama from the Parent Company (Parent Company only)

Financial Statement Elements Our assessment of risk vs FY24 Ourresults
FY25 FY24
Investmentin Autorama £0.0m £170.8m = Thetransferof theinvestmentin Autoramais anew riskin the FY25: Acceptable
ParentCompanyinFY25.
Description of the Key Audit Matter Ourresponse to therisk

Low risk, high value We performed the tests below rather than seeking to rely on any of the Company’s controls because
In September 2024, the Parent Company transferredits £170.8minvestmentin Autorama UK Limited to the nature of the balance is such that we would expect to obtain audit evidence primarily through the
its wholly owned subsidiary, Auto Trader Limited, as part of a planned Group reorganisation following detailed procedures described.

Iz erefmel eeesnen. Our procedures to address theriskincluded:

The accounting, including the impairmentindicators assessment at the transfer date, and the
disclosure for this transactionisidentified as the Parent Company key audit matter. Thisis because it
isanindividually significant transaction on which we spent the most audit time in the context of the
Parent Company audit.

Accounting analysis: inspecting the share transfer agreement between the Parent Company
and Auto Trader Limited and compared the contractual terms with the accounting adopted for
the transaction.

Impairmentindicator assessment: assessing whether there were anyimpairmentindicatorsidentified
by the Parent Company at the date of the transfer and considered whether there was arequirement
to assess the recoverability of the carrying value of the investment prior to the transaction.
Assessing transparency: assessing the appropriateness of the Parent Company’s disclosure

of the transaction.

Communications with Auto Trader Group plc’s Audit Committee
Our discussions with andreporting to the Audit Committee included:

- The analysis of the accounting treatment, including the impairmentindicators assessment at the date of the transfer.

Areas of particular auditor judgement
- The assessmentof impairmentindicators at the date of the transfer.

Ourresults
- We considered the accounting for the transaction of the investmentin Autorama to be acceptable.

We continue to perform procedures over the recoverability of the Parent Company’sinvestmentinits subsidiary. However, following the investmentin Autorama being transferred to Auto Trader Limited, we
have not assessed recoverability of the Parent Company’s remaining investment as one of the most significant areasin our currentyear audit and, therefore, itis not separately identified in our report this year.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

5.OURABILITY TODETECT IRREGULARITIES, AND OUR RESPONSE

FRAUD - IDENTIFYING AND RESPONDING TO RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT DUE TO FRAUD

Fraud risk Toidentifyrisks of material misstatement due to fraud (‘fraudrisks’) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate anincentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an
assessment opportunity tocommit fraud. Ourrisk assessment proceduresincluded:

+ Enquiring of Directors, the Audit Committee, internal audit and the company secretary and inspection of policy documentation as to the Group’s high-level policies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including the outsourced internal audit function, and the Group’s channel for ‘whistleblowing’, as well as whether they have knowledge
of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

+ Reading Board and other Committee meeting minutes;

- Considering remunerationincentive schemes and performance targets for management and Directors, including the Group’s share-based incentive schemes, comprising the
Performance Share Plan, the Deferred Annual Bonus and the Single Incentive Plan Award; and

- Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

Riskcommunications We communicatedidentified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud throughout the audit.

Fraudrisks Asrequired by auditing standards and taking into account our overall knowledge of the control environment, we perform procedures to address the risk of management override of
controls, in particular the risk that Group management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries, and the risk of bias in accounting estimates and judgements
such as goodwillimpairment assumptions.

Onthis auditwe do not believe thereis afraudrisk related to revenue recognition because there is no material judgement or estimationin revenue recognition and a low risk of
fraudulent material misstatement, given the low value and high volume of individual transactions.

We did notidentify any additional fraud risks.

Procedures to We performed proceduresincluding:

address fraud risks e . . L . . o . . .
- Identifyingjournalentries to test at the Group level and for selected components based onrisk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting documentation.

Theseincludedjournalentries to revenue and cash posted to unexpected account combinations and those posted with unusual descriptions; and
- Assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates, are indicative of a potential bias.

LAWS AND REGULATIONS - IDENTIFYING AND RESPONDING TO RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT RELATING TO COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Laws and We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial statements from our general commercial and sector
regulations risk experience and through discussion with the Directors and other management (as required by auditing standards) and discussed with the Directors and other management the
assessment policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations. As the Group is regulated, our assessment of risks involved gaining an understanding of the control

environmentincluding the entity’s procedures for complying with regulatory requirements.

Riskcommunications We communicatedidentified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout the audit.

Directlaws context The potentialeffect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

LU UL T Firstly, the Groupis subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financialreporting legislation (including related companies legislation),

distributable profits legislation, taxation legislation, and pensions legislationinrespect of defined benefit pension schemes and we assessed the extent of compliance with these
laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statementitems.

Most significant Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could have a material effect on amounts or disclosuresin the
indirect law/ financial statements, forinstance through the imposition of fines or litigation. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: General Data Protection
regulation areas Regulation, FCA compliance, competition law, employment law, anti-bribery and anti-corruption and money laundering legislation.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the Directors and other management and inspection
of regulatory andlegal correspondence, if any. Therefore, if abreach of operationalregulationsis not disclosed to us or evident fromrelevant correspondence, an audit will not
detectthatbreach.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

CONTEXT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Context of the ability
of the audit to detect
fraud or breaches of
law or regulation

Owing to theinherentlimitations of an audit, thereis an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some material misstatementsin the financial statements, even though we have
properly planned and performed our auditin accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulationsis from the events and
transactionsreflectedinthe financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it. In addition, as with any audit, there remained
ahigherrisk of non-detection of fraud, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are designed
to detect material misstatement. We are notresponsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

6. OURDETERMINATION OF MATERIALITY
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set quantitative thresholds and overlay qualitative considerations to help us determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing
and extent of our procedures, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, bothindividually andin the aggregate, on the financial statements as a whole.

£18.1Im
(FY24: £16.5m)

Materiality for the
Group financial
statementsasa
whole

What we mean
Aquantitative reference for the purpose of planning and performing our audit.

Basis for determining materiality and judgements applied
Materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was set at £18.1m (FY24: £16.5m). This was determined with reference to abenchmark of profit before tax.

Consistent with FY24, we determined that profit before tax remains the main benchmark for the Group asitis the metricin the primary statements which best reflects the focus of the
financial statements’ users.

Our Group materiality of £18.1m was determined by applying a percentage to the profit before tax. When using a benchmark of profit before tax to determine overall materiality, KPMG's
approach for listed entities considers a guideline range 3% - 5% of the measure. In setting overall Group materiality, we applied a percentage of 4.8% (FY24: 4.8%) to the benchmark.

Materiality for the Parent Company financial statements as a whole was set at £17.0m (FY24: £12.8m), determined with reference to a benchmark of Parent Company total assets, of
whichitrepresents 0.62% (FY24:0.75%). Parent Company materiality was limited in the current year to be lower than Group materiality as awhole.

£13.5m What we mean

(FY24:£12.3m) Our procedures onindividualaccount balances and disclosures were performed to a lower threshold, performance materiality, so as to reduce to an acceptable level the risk that
individuallyimmaterial misstatementsinindividual account balances add up to a materialamount across the financial statements asawhole.

Perfor.mc'mce Basis for determining performance materiality and judgements applied

materiality We have considered performance materiality at alevel of 75% (FY24: 75%) of materiality for Auto Trader Group plc Group financial statements as a whole to be appropriate.
The Parent Company performance materiality was set at £12.8m (FY24: £9.6m), which equates to 75% (FY24: 75%) of materiality for the Parent Company financial statements as a whole.
We applied this percentage in our determination of performance materiality because we did notidentify any factorsindicating an elevated level of risk.

£0.9m What we mean

(FY24:£0.8m) Thisis the amount below whichidentified misstatements are considered to be clearly trivial from a quantitative point of view. We may become aware of misstatements below this

Audit misstatement
posting threshold

threshold which could alter the nature, timing and scope of our audit procedures, for example if we identify smaller misstatements which are indicators of fraud.
Thisis also the amount above which all misstatements identified are communicated to the Audit Committee.

Basis for determining the audit misstatement posting threshold and judgements applied
We set our audit misstatement posting threshold at 5% (FY24: 5%) of our materiality for the Group financial statements. We also report to the Audit Committee any otheridentified
misstatements that warrant reporting on qualitative grounds.

The overallmateriality for the Group financial statements of £18.1m (FY24: £16.5m) compares as follows to the main financial statement caption amounts:

Total Group revenue Group profitbefore tax Total Group assets

FY25 FY24 FY25 FY24 FY25 FY24

Financial statement caption £601.1m £570.9m £375.7m £345.2m £639.6m £658.0m

Group Materiality as % of caption 3.0% 2.9% 4.8% 4.8% 2.8% 2.5%
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

7. THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT

Group scope

What we mean
How the Group auditor determined the procedures to be performed across the Group

Thisyear, we applied the revised Group auditing standard in our audit of the consolidated financial statements. The revised standard changes how an auditor approaches the
identification of components, and how the audit procedures are planned and executed across components.

In particular, the definition of a component has changed, shifting the focus from how the entity prepares financialinformation to how we, as the Group auditor, plan to perform audit
procedures to address Group risks of material misstatement ('RMMs’). Similarly, the Group auditor has anincreasedrole in designing the audit procedures as well as making decisions
onwhere these procedures are performed (centrally and/or at component level) and how these procedures are executed and supervised. As aresult, we assess scoping and coverage
inadifferentway and comparisons to prior period coverage figures are not meaningful. In thisreport we provide anindication of scope coverage on the new basis.

We performed risk assessment procedures to determine which of the Group’s components are likely to include risks of material misstatement to the Group financial statements and
which procedures to perform atthese components to address those risks.

Intotal, we identified five components, having considered our evaluation of the Group’s legal and operational structure, the risk profile across the entities, the presence of key audit
matters and our ability to perform audit procedures centrally.

Of those, we identified one quantitatively significant component which contained the largest percentages of both total revenue and total assets of the Group, for which we performed
audit procedures. The audit of thiscomponent and of the Parent Company was performed by the Group team.

We set the component materiality at £16.2m, having regard to the size and risk profile of the componentinrelation to the Group.

Our audit procedures covered 93% of Group revenue. We performed audit procedures at the components that accounted for 95% of Group profit before tax and 28% of Group total
assets. Inaddition, at the Group level, we performed audit procedures over goodwill and intangible assets, and the related amortisation expense that together account for 69% of
total Group assets and 3% of Group profit before tax.

Impact of controls on our Group audit
The scope of the audit work performed was predominately substantive as we placed limited reliance upon the Group’sinternal controlover financial reporting.

We identified the following IT systems which were relevant to the Group audit:

- the ERP system used by allcomponentsinthe scope of the Group audit to record accounting transactions.
+ the sales and billing system used torecord Trade Retailer revenue for advertising on the Group's platforms.
- the IT systemused to prepare the Group’s consolidation.

We involved IT specialists to supportusin obtaining anunderstanding of these IT systems.

On this audit we believe itis more efficient to not rely on controls and so performed a predominantly substantive auditin all areas. We adopted a data-oriented approach to testing
revenue, by performing data and analytics routines on the centralised IT environment, including as describedin our key audit matter on Trade Retailer revenue. Given that we did not
plantorelyonIT controlsin our audit,a manualand direct testing approach was used over the completeness and reliability of datausedin these routines.

We tested the design and operating effectiveness of the Group’s manualbank reconciliation controland were able to rely on this control, which supported our data analytics
procedures over revenue. We identified some control findings relating to manualjournal postings and following incremental risk assessment, we assessed that no significant changes
were required to our planned audit approach.

Group auditor
oversight

What we mean
The extent of the Group auditor’sinvolvementin work performed by component auditors.

The audit of the component and the audit of the Parent Company were performed by the Group team.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

8. OTHERINFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The Directors areresponsible for the otherinformation presentedin the Annual Report together with the financial statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the otherinformation
and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

ALLOTHERINFORMATION

Ourresponsibility Ourreporting

Our responsibilityistoread the otherinformation and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our Based solely on that work we have not identified material misstatements orinconsistenciesin the other
financial statements audit work, the information thereinis materially misstated orinconsistent with information.

the financial statements or our audit knowledge.

STRATEGIC REPORT AND DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Ourresponsibility and reporting
Based solely on our work onthe otherinformation described above we report toyou as follows:

- we have notidentified material misstatementsin the Strategic report and the Directors’ report;
- inouropinion theinformation giveninthose reports for the financialyearis consistent with the financial statements; and
- inouropinion thosereports have been preparedin accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

Ourresponsibility Ourreporting
We are required to form an opinion as to whether the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Reporttobe Inouropinionthe part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared
audited has been properly preparedin accordance with the Companies Act 2006. inaccordance withthe Companies Act 2006.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

Ourresponsibility Ourreporting
We are required to perform procedures to identify whether there isamaterialinconsistency between Based onthose procedures, we have concluded that each of these disclosuresis materially consistent
the financial statements and our audit knowledge, and: with the financial statements and our audit knowledge.

the Directors’ statement that they consider that the annualreport and financial statements taken
as awholeis fair, balanced and understandable, and provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance, business model and strategy;

the section of the AnnualReport describing the work of the Audit Committee, including the
significantissues that the Audit Committee consideredinrelation to the financial statements,
and how theseissues were addressed; and

the section of the AnnualReport that describes the review of the effectiveness of the Group's
riskmanagement andinternalcontrol systems.

We are alsorequired toreview the part of the Corporate Governance Statementrelating to the
Group's compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified by the
UK Listing Rules for our review.

We have nothing toreportin thisrespect.
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y— Strategic report Governance

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc continued

OTHER MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION

Ourresponsibility Ourreporting
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to youiif, in our opinion: We have nothing toreportintheserespects.

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate
for our audit have not beenreceived from branches not visited by us; or

the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
tobe audited are notin agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certaindisclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

we have notreceived all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

9. RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully intheir statement set out on page 112, the Directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial statementsincluding being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such
internalcontrol as they determineis necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and Parent
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, mattersrelated to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they eitherintend to liquidate the Group
orthe Parent Company or to cease operations, or have norealistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtainreasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinioninan
auditor’'sreport. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement whenit exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materialif, individually orin aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of the financial statements.

Afuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The Companyisrequired toinclude these financial statementsin an annual financialreport prepared under Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule 4.1.17R and 4.1.18R. This auditor’'s report provides no
assurance over whether the annual financialreport has been preparedin accordance with those requirements.

10. THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WORK AND TO WHOM WE OWE OUR RESPONSIBILITIES

Thisreportis made solely to the Company’s members, as abody, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has beenundertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to themin an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
otherthan the Company and the Company’s members, as abody, for our audit work, for thisreport, or for the opinions we have formed.

David Derbyshire (Senior Statutory Auditor)
forand onbehalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

1St Peter'sSquare

Manchester

M2 3AE

29 May 2025
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7 Strategic report Governance FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 March 2025

2025 2024
Note £m £m
Revenue 5 601.1 570.9 1 1 -I
Operating costs 4 (227.9) (225.0) =
Share of profit from joint ventures, net of tax 15 3.6 2.8
Operating profit 6 376.8 348.7 114 Independent auditor’s
report to the members
Net finance costs 9 (1.1) (3.5) of Auto Trader Group plc
Profit before taxation 375.7 345.2
. 126 Consolidatedincome
Taxation 10 (93.1) (88.3) statement
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 282.6 256.9
Basic earnings per share (pence) 1 31.66 28.15 127 Consolidated SFOtQment
of comprehensive income
Diluted earnings per share (pence) 1 31.56 28.07

128 Consolidated balance sheet
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

129 Consolidated statement
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7 Strategic report Governance FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2025

2025 2024
Note £m £m

Profit for the year e e 1 1 3 1 6 8

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations, net of tax 24 (0.5) (0.1) .

114 Independent auditor’s
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (0.5) (0.1) reporttothe members
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 282.1 256.8 of Auto Trader Group plc

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 126 Consolidatedincome

statement

127 Consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

128 Consolidated balance sheet

129 Consolidated statement
of changesin equity

130 Consolidated statement
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131 Notestothe consolidated
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Consolidated balance sheet
At 31 March 2025

2025

2024

Strategic report

Governance

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2025

2024

Note £m £m Note £m £m
Assets 9.2 42.4
Non-current assets Current liabilities
Intangible assets 12 472.2 487.7 Trade and other payables 20 57.9 60.1
Property, plantand equipment 13 13.4 14.9 Provisions 22 1.0 0.8
Deferred taxation assets 23 1.1 = Lease liabilities 14 241 2.4
Retirement benefit surplus 24 0.2 0.6 61.0 63.3
Netinvestmentsinjointventures 15 47.4 48.2  Totalliabilities 70.2 105.7
Otherinvestments 16 1.3 1.3 Totalequity and liabilities 639.6 658.0

535.6 552.7
Current assets The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. The financial statements were
Inventory 18 2.0 2.6  approvedbythe Board of Directors on 29 May 2025 and authorised forissue:
Trade and otherreceivables 17 84.7 83.3
Currentincome tax assets 2.0 0.7  Jamie Warner
Cashand cash equivalents 19 15.3 18.7  Chief Financial Officer
104.0 105.3  Auto Trader Group plc
Total assets 639.6 658.0 Registered number: 09439967
29 May 2025
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital 25 8.9 9.2
Share premium 182.6 182.6
Retained earnings 1,437.9 1,420.5
Ownshares held 26 (31.6) (31.3)
Capitalreorganisationreserve (1,060.8) (1,060.8)
Capitalredemptionreserve 1.7 1.4
Otherreserves 30.7 30.7
Total equity 569.4 552.3
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 21 - 27.7
Provisions 22 1.6 1.6
Lease liabilities 14 0.4 2.4
Deferredincome 5 7.2 7.8
Deferred taxation liabilities 23 - 2.9
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7 Strategic report Governance FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 March 2025

Share Share Retained Ownshares Capital Capital Other Total
capital premium earnings held reorganisationreserve redemptionreserve reserves equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 31 March 2023 9.3 182.6 1,390.3 (26.0) (1,060.8) 1.2 30.7 527.3 1 1 3 — 1 6 8
Profit for the year = = 256.9 = = = = 256.9
Other comprehensive income: 114 Independent auditor’s
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations, net of tax 24 = = (0.1) = = — — (0.1) report to the members
Totalcomprehensiveincome, net of tax = = 256.8 = = = = 256.8 of Auto Trader Group plc
Transactions with owners 126 Consolidatedincome
Employee share schemes - value of employee services 29 = = 17.9 = = = = 17.9 statement
Exercise of employee share schemes = = (4.0) 5.8 = = = 1.8
Taximpact of employee share schemes = = (0.3) = = = = (0.3) e e e e —
Purchase of own shares for treasury - - - (1.1 - - - (1.1 ..
Purchase of ownshares for cancellation (0.2) - (159.7) - - 0.2 - (159.7) of comprehensive income
Issue of ordinary shares 0.1 - (0.1) - - - - -
Dividends paid _ _ (80.4) _ _ _ _ (80.4) 128 Consolidated balance sheet
Totaltransactions with owners, recognised directly in equity (0.1) = (226.6) (5.3) = 0.2 = (231.8)
129 Consolidated statement
Balance at 31 March 2024 9.2 182.6 1,420.5 (31.3) (1,060.8) 1.4 30.7 552.3 of changes in equity
Profit for the year = = 282.6 = = = = 282.6
130 Consolidated statement
Other comprehensive income: of cash flows
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations, net of tax 24 - - (0.5) - - - - (0.5)
Totalcomprehensive income, net of tax = = 282.1 = = = = 282.1 131 Notesto the consolidated
financial statements
Transactions with owners
Emplc?yeeshoreschemes—volueofemployeeserwces 29 = = 9.7 = = = = 9.7 161 Company balance sheet
Exercise of employee share schemes = = (9.4) 10.5 = = = 1.1
Taximpact of employee share schemes = = 0.8 = = = = 0.8
Purchase of own shares for treasury = = = (10.8) = = = (10.8) 162 Company St_Otem?nt
Purchase of ownshares for cancellation (0.3) = (177.4) = = 0.3 = (177.4) of changesinequity
Dividends paid - - (88.4) - - - - (88.4)
Total transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity (0.3) = (264.7) (0.3) = 0.3 - (265.0) 163 Notes to the Company
financial statements
Balance at 31 March 2025 8.9 182.6 1,437.9 (31.6) (1,060.8) 1.7 30.7 569.4
167 Unaudited five-yearrecord
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
168 Shareholderinformation
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 March 2025

Strategic report
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2025

2024

Note £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 28 399.7 379.0
Income taxes paid (95.1) (91.5)
Net cash generated from operating activities 304.6 287.5
Cash flows frominvesting activities
Purchases of intangible assets - (0.2)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (4.0) (3.6)
Proceeds fromsale of property, plant and equipment 0.3 0.2
Dividendsreceived fromjoint ventures 15 4.4 3.9
Interestreceived on cash and cash equivalents 0.9 0.5
Proceeds ondisposal of sharesininvestment entities - 1.0
Net cashusedininvesting activities 1.6 1.8
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to Company shareholders 27 (88.4) (80.4)
Drawdown of Syndicated Revolving Credit Facility 21 - 57.0
Repayment of Syndicated Revolving Credit Facility 21 (30.0) (87.0)
Repayment of other debt 21 - (1.1)
Payment of refinancing fees 21 (0.3) (0.5)
Payment of interest on borrowings 31 (1.2) (3.4)
Payment of lease liabilities 14 (2.5) (2.7)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation 25 (176.6) (158.9)
Purchase of ownshares for treasury 26 (10.7) (11.0)
Payment of fees on purchase of own shares (0.9) (0.9)
Contributions to defined benefit pension scheme 24 (0.1) (0.1)
Proceeds from exercise of share-based incentives 1.1 1.8
Net cashusedin financing activities (309.6) (287.2)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (3.4) 2.1
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 19 18.7 16.6
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19 15.3 18.7

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Auto Trader Group plcis a public limited company whichis listed on the London Stock Exchange
andis domiciled andincorporatedin the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The
Consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 March 2025 comprise
the Company anditsinterestin subsidiaries (togetherreferred to as ‘the Group’). The Group's principal
businessis the operation of the Auto Trader platforms which form the UK's largest automotive platform.

The Consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 March 2025
are available uponrequest to the Company Secretary from the Company’s registered office at
4" Floor,1Tony Wilson Place, Manchester, M154FN or are available onthe corporate website at

plc.autotrader.co.uk.

Basis of preparation
The Consolidated financial statements have been preparedin accordance with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006 and in accordance with UK-adoptedinternational accounting standards.

The Consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and under the
historical cost convention, except for equity investments and defined benefit pension scheme assets,
which are carried at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency
The Consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling (£), whichis the Group’s presentation
currency,androunded to the nearest hundred thousand (£0.1m) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the ‘Group’) and equity account the Group’sinterestinjoint ventures and associates.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. Control exists when the Group has
existingrights that give it the ability to direct the relevant activities of an entity and has the ability
toaffectthereturns the Group willreceive as aresult of itsinvolvement with the entity. In assessing
control, potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are takeninto account.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated financial statements from
the date that controlcommences until the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accountingis used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by
the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity
instrumentsissued, and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Costs directly
attributable to the acquisition are expensed. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values
atthe acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. The excess of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controllinginterestin the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquiredis recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interestrecognised and previously held interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquiredin the case of abargain purchase, the difference
isrecogniseddirectlyintheincome statement.

When the Group disposes of asubsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary.
Any resulting gain or lossisrecognisedin theincome statement.

Intercompany transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation.
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Ajointarrangementis an arrangement over which the Group and one or more third parties have joint
control. These jointarrangements are in turn classified as: joint ventures whereby the Group has rights
tothe netassets of the arrangement, rather thanrights toits assets and obligations forits liabilities;
andjoint operations whereby the Group has rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities
relating to the arrangement.

Associates are all entities over which the Group and parent company have significantinfluence but
not control,generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Where significantinfluenceis not demonstrated but the shareholdingis between 20% and 50%, the
Group would account foritsinterest as aninvestment. Allinvestments are initially recognised at cost
and the carrying valueisreviewed forimpairment.

Going concern

During the year ended 31 March 2025 the Group has continued to generate significant cash from
operations. The Group has an overall positive net asset position and had cash balances of £15.3m
at31March 2025 (2024: £18.7m). During the year £275.7m was returned to shareholders through share
buybacks and dividends (2024: £250.3m).

The Group has access to a Syndicated Revolving Credit Facility (the ‘Syndicated RCF'). At

31 March 2025 the Group had £nil (2024: £30.0m) drawn of its £200.0m Syndicated RCF. On
1February 2025, the Group extended the term of its Syndicated RCF to February 2030 by exercising
theremaining one-year extension option. Until February 2029 the available facility is £200m,
reducing to £165m thereafter, due to one lender not participating in the second extension option.

Cash flow projections for a period of not less than 12 months from the date of thisreport have been
prepared. Stress case scenarios have been modelled to make the assessment of going concern,
takinginto account severe but plausible potentialimpacts of a severe economic downturn,
ransomware attack and a new market entrant within the next12 months. The results of the stress
testing demonstrated that due to the Group's significant free cash flow, access to the Syndicated
RCF and the Board’s ability to adjust the discretionary share buyback programme, the Group would
be able towithstand the impact and remain cash generative. Subsequentto the year end, the
Group has generated cash flows in line withits forecast and there are no events that have adversely
impacted the Group's liquidity.

The Directors, after making enquiries and on the basis of current financial projections and facilities
available, believe that the Group and parent company have adequate financial resources to
continuein operation for a period not less than12 months from the date of thisreport. For thisreason,
they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with UK-adopted international accounting
standards requires the use of certain accounting estimates and assumptions. It also requires
management to exercise its judgementin the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
balance sheet date, that have asignificant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1. GENERAL INFORMATION CONTINUED

Carrying values of goodwill (judgement and estimate)

The Group tests annually whether goodwill held by the Group has suffered any impairmentin
accordance with the accounting policy stated within note 2. The Group has two cash-generating
units, Digital and Autorama. Estimation is required for the assumptions used in the calculation of
therecoverable amounts of each cash-generating unit, the most significant assumptions relating
tothe forecast market share growth of Autorama (note 12).

2.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Changesin significant accounting policies

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following amendments to standards have been adopted by the Group for the first time for the
financialyear beginning on1April 2024:

- Lease Liabilityin a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16)
- Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7)

The adoption of these amendments has had no materialeffect onthe Group’s Consolidated
financial statements.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective
There are anumber of amendments to IFRS that have beenissued by the IASB that, when endorsed
inthe UK, willbecome effective in a subsequent accounting periodincluding:

- Lackof Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21)

- Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
(Amendments to IFRS10 and IAS 28)

- Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (IFRS18)

- Subsidiaries without Public Accountability Disclosures (IFRS 19)

« Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments (Amendments to IFRS 7 and IFRS 9)

The Group has evaluated these changes and none are expected to have a materialimpactonthe
Consolidated financial statements.

Existing significant accounting policies
The following accounting policies applied by the Group have been applied consistently to all periods
presentedinthe Consolidated financial statements.

Revenue

Revenueis measured based on the consideration specifiedin a contract with acustomer andis
recognised when a customer obtains control of the services. Revenue is stated net of discounts,
rebates, refunds and value-added tax.

Revenue principally represents the amounts receivable from customers for advertising on the Group’s
platforms but alsoincludes non-advertising services such as vehicle leasing transactions and data
services. The different types of products and services of fered to customers along with the nature and
timing of satisfaction of performance obligations are set out as follows:
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(i) Trade revenue
Trade revenue comprises fees fromretailers, Home Traders and logistics customers for advertising
onthe Group's platforms and customers utilising the Group's other services.

Retailer revenue

Retailer customers pay a monthly subscription fee to advertise their stock on the Group’s platforms.
Controlis obtained by customers across the life of the contract as their stockis continually listed.
Contracts forthese services are agreed at aretailer or retailer group level and are ongoing subject
toa30-day notice period. Revenue isinvoiced monthlyin arrears.

Retailers have the option to enhance their presence on the platform through additional products,
each of which has adistinct performance obligation. For products that provide enhanced exposure
across thelife of the product, controlis passed to the customer over time. Revenue is only recognised
atapointintime for additional advertising products where the customer does not receive the benefit
untilthey choose to apply the product. Additional advertising products are principally billed ona
monthly subscription basisinline with their core advertising package, however certain products are
billed onanindividualcharge basis.

The Group also generatesrevenue fromretailers for data and valuation services under a variety of
contractualarrangements, with each service being a separate performance obligation. Controlis
obtained by customers either across the life of the contract where customers are licensed to use the
Group's services oratapointin time when aone-off dataservice is provided. Digitalretailing revenue
isgenerated fromretailers who pay a percentage of the vehicle list price when a consumer submits
adeal. Each dealis aseparate performance obligation and controlis obtained at a pointintime.

Contract modifications occur on aregular basis as customers change their stock levels or add or
remove additional advertising products from their contracts. Following a contract modification, the
customerisbilledinline with the delivery of the remaining performance obligations. Areceivable is
recognised only when the Group'sright to considerationis only conditional on the passage of time.

Home Traderrevenue

Home Trader customers pay a fee in advance to advertise avehicle on the Group's platform fora
specified period of time. Revenue is deferred until the customer obtains control over the services.
Controlis obtained by customers across the life of the contract as their vehicle is continually listed.
Contracts for these services are typically enteredinto for a period of between two and six weeks.

Logisticsrevenue

Logistics customers pay a monthly subscription fee for access to the Group’s AT Moves platform.
Controlis obtained by customers across the life of the contract as their accessis continuous.
Contracts for these services are agreed at a customer level and are ongoing subject to a 30-day
notice period. Logistics customers have the option to bid on vehicle moves advertised by retailers
onthe platform. The logistics customer pays afeeif they are successfulin obtaining business from
retailers through the Group’s marketplace. Revenueisrecognised at the pointin time when the vehicle
move has been completed. Areceivableisrecognised only when the Group's right to consideration
isonly conditionalon the passage of time.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Datarevenue

Data customers pay a subscription fee to access elements of Auto Trader’s vehicle database or to
accessthe Fleetware software. Controlis transferred to customers across the life of the contract
where customers have continuous access to the database or the software.

AutoConvertrevenue

AutoConvert customers pay a monthly subscription fee to access the AutoConvert platform. Control
istransferred to customers across the life of the contract where customers have continuous access
tothe platform andrevenueisrecognised across this period. Ancillary AutoConvert revenues are
charged onapertransaction basis andrevenue isrecognised at the pointin time that these services
are provided.

(ii) Consumer Services revenue

Consumer Services comprises fees from private sellers for vehicle advertisements on the Group's
websites, and third-party partners who provide services to consumers relating to their motoring needs,
suchasinsurance and loan finance. Private customers pay a fee in advance to advertise a vehicle onthe
Group's platform for a specified period of time. Controlis obtained by customers across the life of the
contractas theirstockis continually listed. Contracts for these services are typically enteredinto for
aperiod of between two and six weeks and revenue is recognised over this time.

Revenueis also generated from third-party partners who utilise the Group’s platforms to advertise
their products under a variety of contractual arrangements, with each service being a separate
performance obligation. Controlis obtained by customers at a pointin time when the service is
provided. Revenue is also generated via an agreement with Dealer Auction (our joint venture),
whenretailers purchase a consumer’s vehicle via Dealer Auction’s platform. Revenue is recognised
when the vehicleis listed as sold.

(iii) Manufacturer and Agency revenue

Revenueis generated from manufacturers and their advertising agencies for placing display
advertising for their brand or vehicle on the Group’s websites under a variety of contractual
arrangements, with each service being a separate performance obligation. Controlis obtained by
customers across the life of the contract as their advertising is displayed on the different platforms.
Rebates are presentin the contractual arrangements with customers and are awarded eitherin cash
orvalue of services based upon annual spend; an estimate of the annualised spendis made at the
reporting date to determine the amount of revenue to be recognised. A small proportion of revenue
relates to manufacturers who sell direct to consumers using our new car market extension product.
Manufacturers pay a monthly subscription fee to advertise their stock on the Group's platforms.
Controlis obtained by manufacturers across the life of the contract as their stockis continually listed.
Contracts for these services are agreed at a manufacturer or manufacturer group level and are
ongoing subjectto a30-day notice period. Revenue isinvoiced monthlyin arrears.

(iv) Autorama revenue
Autorama revenue comprises consideration received from the sale of new vehicles and accessories
aswellas commissionreceived for facilitating the lease of new vehicles.
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Vehicle & Accessory salesrevenue

Vehicle & Accessory salesrevenue is generated from new vehicles which are purchased from
anoriginalequipment manufacturer (‘OEM’) or retailer and then sold to a lease funder. Controlis
obtained by the funder at a pointintime when the vehicle is delivered and revenue is only recognised
atthis point. Additional accessories can be added to vehicles at extra cost upon the request of
the funder, and controlis once again obtained by the funder at a pointin time when the vehicle is
delivered. Where the Group obtains control of vehicles or accessories in advance of selling those
goodsto afunder,including holdinginventoryrisk, then the Groupis acting as principal and revenue
and cost of sales are reported on a gross basis. Where the Group does not obtain control of vehicles,
revenueisrecorded as the value of the related commission and recognised as described below.

Commission & Ancillary revenue

Commission & Ancillary revenue is generated from commissionreceived from lease funders for
facilitating the lease of new vehicles via advertisement on the Company online marketplaces. Control
isobtained by the funderatapointintime when the leaseis live and revenueis only recognised at this
point. Ancillary Autorama revenues are charged on a per transaction basis and revenueis recognised
atthe pointintime thatthese services are provided.

Rebates are presentinthe contractualarrangements with funders and are awarded in cash based
uponthe quarterly number of vehicles provided. Similarly, rebates are presentin the contractual
arrangements with OEMs and are awarded in cash based upon the quarterly number of vehicles
purchased. Revenueisrecognised asvolume targets are met.

Employee benefits

The Group operates several pension schemes and all except one are defined contribution schemes.
Within the UK all pension schemes set up prior to 2001 have been closed to new members and only
one defined contribution schemeis now opentonew employees.

a) Defined contribution scheme

The assets of the defined contribution scheme are held separately from those of the Groupin
independently administered funds. The costsinrespect of this Scheme are charged to theincome
statementasincurred.

b) Defined benefit scheme

The Group operates one defined benefit pension scheme thatis closed to new members. The asset
or liability recognisedin the balance sheetinrespect of the defined benefit scheme is the present
value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of the Scheme's
assets. The defined benefit obligationis calculated annually by independent actuaries using the
projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligationis determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds
thatare denominatedin the currencyin which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to
maturity approximating those of the related pension liability. Remeasurement gains and losses
arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited
to equityin other comprehensiveincome in the periodin which they arise. Any Scheme surplus (to the
extentitcanberecovered)ordeficitisrecognisedin full on the balance sheet. Contributions paid to
the Scheme by the Group have been classified as financing activities in the Consolidated statement
of cash flows as there are noremaining active members within the Scheme.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

c) Share-based payments

Equity-settled awards are valued at the grant date, and the fair value is charged as an expensein the
income statement spread over the vesting period. Fair value of the awards is measured using Black-
Scholes and Monte Carlo pricing models. The creditside of the entryisrecorded in equity. Cash-settled
awards arerevalued ateachreporting date with the fair value of the award charged to the profitand
loss account over the vesting period and the credit side of the entry recognised as aliability.

Research and development
Research and development expenditure is charged against profitsin the yearinwhichitisincurred,
unlessitisdevelopment that meets the criteria for capitalisation set outin IAS 38 - Intangible Assets.

Operating profit

Operating profitis the profit of the Group (including the Group’s share of profit from joint ventures)
before finance income, finance costs, profit on disposal of subsidiaries which do not meet the
definition of a discontinued operation, and taxation.

Finance income and costs
Financeincomeis earned onbankdeposits and finance costs are incurred on bank borrowings and vehicle
stocking loans. Both are recognisedin theincome statementin the period in which they areincurred.

Taxation

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred taxation. Taxis recognisedin the
income statement, except to the extent thatitrelates toitemsrecognisedin ‘other comprehensive
income’ or directly in equity. In this case the taxis also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively. Management periodically evaluates positions takenin tax returns with
respectto situationsin which applicable taxregulationis subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Currenttaxationis provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) calculated using the rates
of tax and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet dateinthe
countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Deferred taxationis providedin full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts are includedin the
Consolidated financial statements. Deferred taxationis determined using taxrates and laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
whentherelated deferred tax assetisrealised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred taxation assets are recognised only to the extent thatitis probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred taxationis provided ontemporary differences arising oninvestments in subsidiaries and
interestsinjoint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
iscontrolled by the Group anditis probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there is alegally
enforceableright to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
taxation assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is anintention to settle the balance on a net basis.

Strategic report Governance

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group has determined that the globalminimum top-up tax, whichis aliability under Pillar Two
legislation,isanincome taxin the scope of IAS12. The Group does not expect a liability to Pillar
Two top-up taxbased onits effective rate of corporation tax paid and because its consolidated
revenue is below the minimum threshold of €750m and all operations are in the UK.

Leases

Atinception of acontract, the Group assesses whether or not a contractis, or contains, alease. Acontract
is,or contains,aleaseif the contract conveys the right to control the use of anidentified asset for a period
of timeinexchange for consideration. When aleaseisrecognisedin a contract the Group recognises
aright of use asset and alease liability at the lease commencement date other than as noted below.

Theright of use assetisinitially measured at cost, which comprises the initialamount of the lease
liability adjusted for any lease prepayments made at or before the commencement date, plus any
initial direct costsincurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
ortorestore the underlying asset or the site on whichitislocated, less any lease incentivesreceived.
Theright of use assetis subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right of use asset or the end

of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right of use assets are determined on the same basis
asthose of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right of use assetis periodically reduced
byimpairment losses, if any,and adjusted for certainremeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liabilityisinitially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the commencementdate, discounted using the interest rate implicitin the lease or, if that rate cannot
bereadily determined, the Group’sincremental borrowing rate.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Itisremeasured
whenthereisachangeinfuture lease payments arising fromachangeinanindexorrate, orif the
Group changesits assessment of whetherit will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

The Group presentsright of use assetsin property, plant and equipment and leased liabilitiesin lease
liabilitiesin the balance sheet.

The Group has applied the recognition exemption of low value leases. For these leases, the lease
payments are charged to theincome statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Financialinstruments

Afinancial asset (unlessitis atrade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial
liability isinitially measured at fair value plus, for anitem not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable toits acquisition orissue. A trade receivable without
asignificant financing componentisinitially measured at the transaction price.

Under IFRS 9, trade receivablesincluding accrued income, without a significant financing component,
are classified and held at amortised cost, beinginitially measured at the transaction price and
subsequently measured at amortised cost less anyimpairment loss.

The Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses (‘ECLs’) for trade receivables and accrued
income. The expected credit losses are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for any macro-economic factors. At 31 March 2024, ECLs
were adjusted toreflect high inflation, highinterestrates and the upcoming UK general election. At
31March 2025, ECLs were adjusted to reflect the lower levels of inflation and downward pressures on
interestrates.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

The Group assesses whether afinancial assetisin default on a case by case basis whenitbecomes
probable that the customeris unlikely to payits credit obligations. The gross carrying amount of a
financialassetis written off when the Group has noreasonable expectations of recovering a financial
assetinits entirety or aportion thereof. For all customers, the Group individually makes an assessment
withrespectto the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is areasonable expectation
of recovery. The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with
the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Ateachreporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost
are credit-impaired. A financial assetis ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events thathave a
detrimentalimpact onthe estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Financialliabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through profitand loss.
Afinancialliability is classified as at fair value through profit and loss if itis classified as held-for-
trading, itis a derivative, oritis designated as such oninitial recognition and measured at fair value
and netgains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other
financialliabilities, including trade payables, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognitionis also recognisedin profit or loss.

Intangible assets

a) Goodwill

Goodwillrepresents the excess cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of
the netidentifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwillis tested
annually forimpairment andis carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment
losses are charged to theincome statement and are notreversed. The gain or loss on the disposal
of anentityincludes the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. Goodwillis allocated
to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocationis made to those
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combinationin which the
goodwill arose.

b) Trademarks, trade names, technology, non-compete agreements, customer relationships,
franchise buybacks, brands and databases

Separately acquired trademarks, trade names, technology and customer relationships are recognised
athistoricalcost. They have afinite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisationis calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over their estimated useful
lives of between one and15years. Trademarks, trade names, technology, non-compete agreements,
customerrelationships, franchise buybacks, brands and databases acquiredin a business combination
arerecognised at fair value at the acquisition date and subsequently amortised.

c) Software

Acquired computer software controlled by the Group is capitalised at cost, including any costs to
bringitintouse, andis carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisationis calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over the estimated useful life of three to five years.
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d) Software and website development costs and financial systems

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique
software products, websites and systems controlled by the Group are recognised asintangible
assets when the following criteria are met:

itis technically feasible to complete the software product or website so thatit will be available
foruse;

managementintends to complete the software product or website and use or sellit;

thereis an ability to use or sell the software product or website;

itcanbe demonstrated how the software product or website will generate probable future
economic benefits;

adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use

or sell the software product or website are available; and

the expenditure attributable to the software product or website during its development can
be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product, website or system
include employee and contractor costs. Other development expenditures thatdo not meet these
criteria, as well as ongoing maintenance and costs associated with routine upgrades and
enhancements, are recognised as an expense asincurred. Development costs for software, websites
and systems are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and are amortised over their useful
lives (not exceeding 10 years) at the point at which they comeinto use.

Outside of acquired software, the Group develops its core infrastructure through small-scale,
maintenance-like incrementalimprovements and as aresult, alow proportion of internal expenditure
meets the requirements of IAS 38, Intangible Assets. By theirinnovative nature, there may also be
uncertainty over the technical feasibility of new development projects and, if successful, how they
may be commercially monetised.

Licence agreements to use cloud software provided as a service are treated as service contracts
and expensedin the Groupincome statement, unless the Group has both a contractualright to take
possession of the software at any time without significant penalty, and the ability to run the software
independently of the host vendor. In such cases the licence agreement is capitalised as software
withinintangible assets. Implementation costs are expensed unless implementationis a distinct
service and givesrise to a separate intangible asset.

Property, plant and equipment

Allproperty, plantand equipmentis stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Historical cost comprises the purchase price of the asset and expenditure directly
attributable to the acquisition of the item.

Freehold landis not depreciated. Depreciation on other assetsis calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost less their estimated residual values over the estimated useful lives
as follows:

Land, buildings and leasehold improvements:

- Leasehold land and buildings life of lease
« Leaseholdimprovements life of lease
« Plantand equipment 3-10years
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, ateach balance
sheetdate. The carrying value of assetsisreviewed forimpairmentif events or changesin circumstances
suggest that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Assets will be written down to their recoverable
amountif lower thanthe carrying value, and anyimpairmentis charged to the income statement.

Gains andlosses ondisposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and arerecognisedin the income statement within administrative expenses.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have anindefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually forimpairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation and depreciation are
reviewed forimpairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may notbe recoverable. Animpairment lossis recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carryingamount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amountis the higher of an asset’s
fairvalue less costs to selland value inuse. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that have suffered animpairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of theimpairment ateachreporting date.

Inassessing value inuse, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
apre-taxdiscountrate thatreflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash flows, the
recoverable amountis determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Impairmentlossesrecognisedinrespect of cash-generating units are allocated first toreduce the
carryingamount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then
toreduce the carrying amount of other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro-rata basis.

Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method under IFRS 3 - Business
Combinations. See note1for further details.

Interestsinjoint ventures

UnderIFRS 11, investmentsinjointarrangements are classified as eitherjoint operations or joint ventures
depending on the contractualrights and obligations of eachinvestor. Auto Trader Group plc has
assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures
are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method of accounting, interestsinjoint
ventures areinitially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the
post-acquisition profits or losses, movements in other comprehensive income and dividends received.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalentsinclude cashinhand and short-term deposits held on call with banks.

Inventories
Inventoryis measured at the lower of cost and netrealisable value, being the estimated selling price
less coststo complete and sell. Costis based onthe cost of purchase on afirstin, first out basis.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costsincurred,and are
subsequently carried at amortised cost, with any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value beingrecognised in the income statement over
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the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Finance andissue costs associated
with the borrowings are charged to the income statement using the effective interest rate method
from the date of issue over the estimated life of the borrowings to which the costs relate.

Borrowings are derecognised when the contractual obligationis discharged, cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modificationis treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability,
such that the differenceinrespective carrying amounts together with any costs or feesincurred are
recognisedintheincome statement.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has anunconditionalright to defer
settlement of the liability for atleast12 months after the balance sheet date.

Vehicle financing

Avehicle stockingloanis afinancing arrangement whichis used to purchase new and used vehicles
priortore-sale. This financing arrangement can only be used for this purpose, typically has a maturity
of180daysorlessandisrepayable on the earliest of the vehicle delivery date or the maturity date.
Based onthese factors, the Group recognises these arrangements as financial liabilities within trade
and other payables as part of its operating cycle.

Provisions

Aprovisionisrecognised when a presentlegalor constructive obligation exists at the balance sheet
date asaresult of apastevent,itis probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligationand areliable estimate of that obligation canbe made. Where there are anumber of similar
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be requiredin settlementis determined by considering
the class of obligations as awhole. If the effectis material, provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a pre-taxrate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the obligation.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed unless an outflow of resourcesis remote.
Contingentassets are notrecognised but are disclosed where aninflow of economic benefitsis probable.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shownin equity as adeduction from the proceeds.

Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital, the consideration paidis deducted from
equity attributable to the Group’s shareholders. Where such shares are subsequently cancelled, the
nominalvalue of the shares repurchasedis deducted from share capital and transferred to a capital
redemptionreserve. Where the Group purchases its own equity share capital to hold in treasury, the
consideration paid for the sharesis shown as own shares held within equity.

Shares held by Employee Share Option Trust

The Employee Share Option Trust (‘ESOT’) provides for the issue of shares to Group employees principally
under share option schemes. The Group has control of the ESOT and therefore consolidates the ESOT in
the Group financial statements. Accordingly, sharesinthe Company held by the ESOT are includedin the
balance sheet atcost as adeduction fromequity.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Share premium

The amount subscribed for the ordinary shares in excess of the nominalvalue of these new shares
isrecordedinshare premium. Costs that directly relate to the issue of ordinary shares are deducted
from share premium net of corporation tax.

Capitalreorganisationreserve

The capitalreorganisationreserve arose on consolidation as aresult of the share-for-share exchange
on 24 March 2015. Itrepresents the difference between the nominal value of sharesissued by Auto Trader
Group plcinthis transaction and the share capital and reserves of Auto Trader Holding Limited.

Capitalredemptionreserve
The capitalredemptionreserve arises from the purchase and subsequent cancellation of the Group's
own equity share capital.

Otherreserves

Otherreservesinclude the currency translation reserve on the consolidation of entities whose
functional currencyis other than sterling, and other amounts which arose on theinitialcommon
controltransaction that formed the Group.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (‘EPS’) forits ordinary shares. Basic EPS

is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. For diluted EPS, the weighted average
number of ordinary sharesis adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholdersis recognised as a liability in the Group's
financial statementsinthe period in which the dividend is approved by the Company’s shareholders
inthe case of final dividends, or the date at which they are paidin the case of interim dividends.

Segmentreporting

Operating segments are reportedin a manner consistent with the internalreporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, whoisresponsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has beenidentified as the
Auto Trader Leadership Team that makes strategic decisions (note 4).

Foreign currency translation

a) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at the period end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominatedin foreign currencies are recognisedin theincome
statement within administrative expenses.

b) Foreign operations
Theresults and financial position of all Group entities (none of which has the currency of ahyper-inflationary
economy) that have afunctional currency other than sterling are translatedinto sterling as follows:

- assetsand liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet; and
- income and expenses foreachincome statement are translated at average exchange rates.
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These foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and the
translationreserve within otherreserves.

Onthedisposal of aforeign operation, the cumulative exchange differences that were recordedin
equity arerecognisedin theincome statement as part of the gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair
value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Fair value measurement

‘Fairvalue’isthe price that would be received to sellan asset or paid to transfer aliability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, inits absence,
the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of aliability
reflectsits non-performance risk. Anumber of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures
require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.
Whenoneis available, the Group measures the fair value of aninstrumentusing the quoted priceinan
active market for thatinstrument. If thereis no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses
valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable outputs and minimise the use of
unobservable outputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market
participants would take into accountin pricing a transaction.

3.RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Overview

Inthe course of its business the Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk fromits
use of financialinstruments. This note presentsinformation about the Group's exposure to each of
the below risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and
the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these
Consolidated financial statements.

The Group's overallrisk management strategy is to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial
performance and net assets of the Group. These policies are set and reviewed by senior finance
management and all significant financing transactions are authorised by the Board of Directors.

Market risk

i. Foreign exchange risk

The Group has no significant foreign exchange risk as100% of the Group's revenue and 98% of costs are
sterling-denominated. As the amounts are not significant, no sensitivity analysis has been presented.

ii. Interest rate risk

The Group'sinterest rate risk arises from vehicle stocking loans which have floating rates of interest
linked to the Bank of England Base Rate and long-term borrowings under the Syndicated RCF with
floating rates of interest linked to SONIA. The Group monitorsinterestrates on anongoing basis but
does not currently hedge interest rate risk. The variation of 100 basis pointsin the interest rate of
floating rate financial liabilities (with all other variables held constant) willincrease or decrease
post-tax profit for the year by £0.1m (2024: £0.3m).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

3. RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

Creditrisk

Creditriskis therisk of financialloss to the Group if a customer or banking institution fails to meet
its contractual obligations.

i. Trade receivables

Creditriskrelating to trade receivablesis managed centrally and the credit risk for new Auto Trader
customersis analysed before standard payment terms and conditions are offered. Policies and
procedures exist to ensure that Auto Trader’s existing customers have an appropriate credit history
and asignificant number of balances are collected via direct debit. In March, more than 88.3%
(2024: 87.4%) of Auto Trader’s retailer customers paid via monthly direct debit, minimising the risk of
non-payment. Sales to private individuals using Auto Trader are primarily settled in advance using
major debit or credit cards which removes theriskin this area.

Autorama’s main customers are funders who do not change regularly, so the riskin this area
is also minimal.

The Group establishes an expected credit loss thatrepresentsits estimate of lossesinrespect
of trade and otherreceivables. Further details of these are givenin note 30.

Overall, the Group considers thatitis not exposed to a significant amount of either customer credit
orbad debtrisk, due to the fragmented nature of the customer base and the robust nature of the
used car market.

ii. Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 March 2025, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of £15.3m (2024: £18.7m). The cash and
cash equivalents are held with bank and financialinstitution counterparties, which are rated between
P-1and P-2 based on Moody’s ratings. The Group's treasury policy is to monitor cash, and when
applicable depositbalances, on a daily basis and to manage counterparty risk, whilst also ensuring
efficient management of the Group’s Syndicated RCF.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity riskis therisk that the Group willencounter difficulties in meeting the obligations associated
withits financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash. The Group’s approach to managing
liquidityis to ensure, as far as possible, thatit will always have sufficient liquidity to meetits liabilities
when due,under both normal and stressed conditions, withoutincurringunacceptable losses or
riskingdamage to the Group’s reputation.

Cash flow forecastingis performed centrally by the Director of Group Finance. Rolling forecasts of
the Group's liquidity requirements are monitored to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational
needs. The Group’s revenue modelis largely subscription-based, which resultsin aregular level of
cash conversion allowingit to service working capitalrequirements.

On1February 2025, the Group extended the term of its Syndicated RCF to February 2030 by exercising
the remaining one-year extension option. Until February 2029 the available facility is £200m, reducing
to £165m thereafter, due to one lender not participating in the second extension option. The facility
allows the Group access to cash at one working day’s notice. At 31 March 2025, £nil was drawn under
the Syndicated RCF (2024: £30.0m).

The Group has access to a vehicle stocking loan, with alimit of £12.0m. This financing arrangement
canonly beusedto fund the purchase of new and used vehicles prior to re-sale and has a maturity of
180 daysorless. The loanisrepayable on the earliest of the vehicle delivery date or the maturity date.
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At 31 March 2025, £1.0m was recognised in the Consolidated balance sheet (2024: £2.1m).

Capital management

The Group considers capitalto be net debt plus total equity. Net debtis calculated as total bank debt,
otherloans and lease financing, less cash and cash equivalents as shownin note 31. Total equityis as
showninthe Consolidated balance sheet.

The calculation of total capitalis shownin the table below:

2025 2024

£m £m

Total net funds/(debt) (12.7) 14.0
Total equity 569.4 552.3
Total capital 556.7 566.3

The objectives for managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern,inorder to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an efficient cost of capital structure. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may pay dividends, return capital through share buybacks, issue new shares or take other steps to
increase share capitaland reduce orincrease debt facilities.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had borrowings of £nil (2024: £30.0m) throughits Syndicated RCF.
Interestis payable on this facility at a rate of SONIA plus a margin of between1.2% and 2.1% depending
onthe consolidated leverage ratio of Auto Trader Group plc andits subsidiaries, whichis calculated
andreviewed on abiannual basis. As part of the amendment and extension of its Syndicated RCFin
2023, three sustainability performance targets were incorporated into the agreement. These were
tested forthe firsttimein 2024. The margin shallbe increased or decreased between -0.05% and 0.05%
based onthe number of sustainability performance targets achievedin the reporting period. This will
bereviewed annually. The Group remainsin compliance withits banking covenants.

4. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

IFRS 8 - Operating Segments requires the Group to determine its operating segments based
oninformation whichis providedinternally. Based on the internalreportinginformation and
management structures within the Group, it has been determined that there are two operating
segments (2024: two operating segments), being:

- Auto Trader:includes the results of Auto Trader and AutoConvertinrespect of online classified
advertising of motor vehicles and other related products and services in the digital automotive
marketplace including share of profit from the Dealer Auctionjoint venture.

- Autorama: the results of Autoramain respect of a marketplace for leasing new vehicles and other
related products and services.

Management has determined that there are two operating segmentsin line with the nature in which
the Groupismanaged. Thereports reviewed by the Auto Trader Leadership Team (‘ALT’), whichis
the chief operating decision-maker ('CODM’) for both segments, splitout operating performance
by segment. The ALT is made up of the Executive Directors and Key Management andis responsible
for the strategic decision-making of the Group. Revenue and cost streams presented for each
operating segmentare largelyindependentin the reporting period with certain costsrecharged
betweensegments.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

4. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION CONTINUED

The ALT primarily uses the measures of revenue and operating profit to assess the performance

of each operating segment. Segmentrevenue comprises revenue from externalcustomers andis
reportedto the ALTinamanner consistent with thatinthe income statement. Inter-segmentrevenue
and costs are notreported to the ALT. In the year to 31 March 2025, inter-segment revenue earned by
Auto Trader from Autorama for vehicles leased via ajourney initiated on the Auto Trader platform
was not material (2024: £nil).

Analysis of the Group's revenue and results for both reportable segments, with areconciliation to
Group profitbefore tax, is shown below:

Group

Auto Trader Autorama central
segment segment costs Group
Year to 31 March 2025 £m £m £m £m
Totalsegmentrevenue 564.8 36.3 - 601.1
People costs (92.8) (7.4) - (100.2)
Marketing (24.6) (2.7) - (27.3)
Costs of goods sold - (26.2) - (26.2)
Digital Services Tax (10.2) - - (10.2)
Other costs (40.5) (2.8) - (43.3)
Depreciation & amortisation (6.3) (1.5) (12.9) (20.7)
Totalsegment costs (174.4) (40.6) (12.9) (227.9)
Share of profit fromjoint ventures 3.6 - - 3.6
Total segment operating profit/(loss) 394.0 (4.3) (12.9) 376.8
Finance costs - net (1.1)
Profit before tax 375.7

Group central costs are not allocated to the operating profit/(loss) reported to the CODM for either
operating segment.

For the year ending 31 March 2025, an amortisation expense of £12.9m (2024: £10.0m) was recognised
inrelation to the fair value of the brand, technology and other assets acquired in the Group’s business
combination of Autorama. Inthe prior period, a further £11.Im charge was recognised in people costs,
comprising a £10.4m share-based payment charge relating to the sharesissued as part of the
deferred consideration for Autorama and a further £0.7m settledin cash.
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Group
Auto Trader Autorama central
segment segment costs Group
Year to 31 March 2024 £m £m £m £m
Totalsegmentrevenue 529.7 41.2 = 570.9
People costs (81.5) (10.9) (11.1) (103.5)
Marketing (22.3) (4.0) = (26.3)
Costs of goodssold - (28.2) - (28.2)
Othercosts (44.2) (4.5) - (48.7)
Depreciation & amortisation (5.9) (2.4) (10.0) (18.3)
Totalsegment costs (153.9) (50.0) (21.1) (225.0)
Share of profit fromjoint ventures 2.8 = = 2.8
Total segment operating profit/(loss) 378.6 (8.8) (21.1) 348.7
Finance costs - net (3.5)
Profit before tax 345.2

Inthe current and prior year, the Group has classified expenditure by nature (2024: by nature).

5.REVENUE

The Group’s operations and main revenue streams are those described in these annual financial
statements. The Group’s revenue is derived from contracts with customers.

Allrevenues were earned from activities and customers in the United Kingdom.

Inthe following table, the Group'srevenueis detailed by customer type. This level of detailis consistent
withthat used by management to assistin the analysis of the Group’s revenue-generating trends.

2025 2024
Revenue £m £m

Retailer 480.0 450.0

Home Trader 16.1 13.4

Other 13.0 12.3
Trade 509.1 475.7
Consumer Services 42.4 39.6
Manufacturer & Agency 13.3 14.4
Autorama 36.3 41.2
Totalrevenue 601.1 570.9

Revenueislargely recognised over time, other than Autoramarevenue whichisrecognised ata point
intime whenrelated sales commission or fees are earned. The Group has no major customers to
disclosein either the current or prioryear.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

5. REVENUE CONTINUED
Contractbalances

The following table providesinformation about receivables and contract assets and liabilities from

contracts with customers.

2025

2024

Strategic report Governance

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. EMPLOYEE NUMBERS AND COSTS
The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors and contractors) employed
by the Group was as follows:

£m £m
Receivables, which areincludedin trade and otherreceivables 33.4 36.0
Accruedincome 46.0 44.5
Deferredincome (12.5) (15.1)

Accruedincomerelates to the Group’s unconditional rights to consideration for services provided but
notinvoiced atthereportingdate. Accruedincomeis transferred to trade receivables when invoiced.

Deferredincome relates to advanced consideration received for which revenue isrecognised as
orwhenservices are provided. £5.3m (2024: £7.3m) of the deferredincome balanceis classified asa
currentliability within trade and other payables (note 20). Included within deferredincome is £7.8m
(2024: £8.3m) relating to consideration received from Dealer Auction Limited (joint venture) for the
provision of data services to Dealer Auction (note 15). Revenue relating to this service isrecognised
onastraight-line basis over aperiod of 20 years to 31 December 2038; given this time period the liability
hasbeensplitbetween currentand non-current liabilities. Revenue of £0.6m was recognisedin the year
(2024:£0.6m).

6. OPERATING PROFIT

2025 2024

£m £m

Customer operations 675 646

Product and technology 402 394

Corporate 190 193

Total 1,267 1,233
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

2025 2024

Note £m £m

Wages and salaries 76.3 72.6

Social security costs 7.5 7.5

Defined contribution pension costs 24 4.7 4.1

88.5 84.2

Share-based payments and associated NI 29 1.7 8.2

Total 100.2 92.4

Wages andsalariesinclude £29.6m (2024: £28.1m) relating to the product and technology teams;

Operating profitis after (charging)/crediting the following:

these teams spend asignificant proportion of their time on innovation of our product proposition and
incrementalenhancements to the Group's platforms.

In addition to the share-based payments disclosed above, a share-based payment charge of
£10.4m wasrecognised in the prior periodrelating to deferred consideration for the acquisition
of Autorama.

8. DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

2025 2024

Note £m £m
Staff costs 7 (100.0) (92.2)
Contractor costs (0.2) (0.2)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 (5.2) (4.8)
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 (15.5) (13.5)
(Loss)/profit on sale of property, plant and equipment - (0.3)

Services provided by the Company’s auditor
During the year, the Group obtained the following services from the operating company’s auditor:

2025 2024
£m £m

Fees payable for the audit of the Company and Consolidated

financial statements 0.3 0.2

Fees payable for other services

The audit of the subsidiary undertakings pursuant to legislation 0.3 0.3

Total 0.6 0.5

Fees payable for audit-related assurance servicesinthe year were £55,000 (2024: £52,000) for the
half-yearreview of the condensed financial statements. Fees payable for other non-audit services
inthe yearwere £16,000 (2024: £15,000) for limited assurance over certaininformationincluded within
orreferenced from the Annual Report.

Directors’ remuneration

2025 2024

£000 £000
Directors’' remuneration 2.7 2.8
Amounts receivable under long-termincentive schemes 4.0 =
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 0.1 0.1

6.8 29
Gainon exercise of share options 3.1 Nil

Three (2024: Three) Directors received Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes.

Three (2024: Nil) Directors exercised share options.

Three: (2024: Three) Directors received share awards for qualifying services.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

8. DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION CONTINUED
The aggregate of remuneration and amounts receivable under long-term incentive schemes of
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The taxation charge for the yearis lower than (2024: higher than) the effective rate of corporation tax
inthe UK of 25% (2024: 25%). The differences are explained below:

the highest paid Director was £3,010,000 (2024: £1,054,000), and Company pension contributions of 2°£2nf 2°£2r:
£47,000(2024: £43,000) were made to amoney purchase scheme on their behalf. During the year, the R e e TGN 375.7 345 2
highest paid Director exercised share options and received sharesunder along-termincentive scheme. . -
Thisinformation was notincludedin the 2024 financial statements.
. Tax on profit at the standard UK corporation tax rate of 25% (2024: 25%) 93.9 86.3
Key.Mcmagement el X T . Expenses notdeductible for taxation purposes 0.4 3.5
During the year to 31 March 2025, Key Management comprised the members of the ALT (who are sh fioint ture t ‘i 0.9 07
definedinnote 4) and the Non-Executive Directors (2024: OLT and the Non-Executive Directors). greo jomn .ven ure taxation ) ) ©9) ©7)
The remuneration of all Key Management was as follows: Adjustmentsinrespect of losses not previously recognised - (0.4)
2025 2024  Adjustmentsinrespectof OCIgroup relief (0.3) =
£m £m Adjustmentsinrespect of prioryears - (0.4)
Short-term employee benefits 5.3 4.6 Totaltaxation charge 93.1 383
Share-based payments 5.0 2.1
Pension contributions 0.3 0.2 gxpensesnon-deductible for taxation purposes in the prior period principally included the
Total excluding NI 10.6 6.9  share-based payment expense incurred in thatyear relating to the deferred consideration arising
Employer NI 1.0 0.8 onacquisition of Autorama.
Total 1.6 77 Taxationonitems taken directly to equity was a credit of £0.8m (2024: debit of £0.3m) relating to tax
onshare-based payments.
9. NETFINANCE COSTS 2025 s Taxationrecorded in equity within the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income was a
£m £m release of £0.5m (2024: release of £0.1m) relating to post-employment benefit obligations.
Onbor.wklo.onsond ovgrdrofts 11 S0 The taxation charge for the yearis based on the standard rate of UK corporation tax for the period
Amortisation of debtissue costs 0.5 0.6 5f25%(2024: 25%). Deferred income taxes have been measured at the tax rate expected to be
Interestunwind on lease liabilities 0.1 0.1 applicable atthe date the deferred income tax assets and liabilities are realised.
Interestonvghlclestockmgloon i 0.3 08 The UK Digital Services Tax (‘UK DST’) is calculated using a gross measure of revenue and
Interest receivable on cash and cash equivalents (0.9) (0.5)  therefore does not meet the definition of anincome tax under IAS 12 - Income Taxes. Amounts
Total 1.1 3.5  payable are therefore accounted for as a pre-tax operating expense which, on the basisiitis
incurred wholly and exclusively for the purposes of the Company’s trade, will be included as a
10. TAXATION deductible expensein the calculation of corporation tax payable.
20,;2,,&: 20:,: The Group has exceeded the threshold forin-scope revenue for UKDST in financialyear 2025. This has
Current taxation .res.ulted.in cmoperotingexpensepfﬂO.Zminthe period, which we expect to berec.urring and growing
UK corporation taxation 96.5 917 |nl|neW|Fhrevenue.'We had prewouslyoommenteqthotthe UKGovernmentcontlnues'tgwork
Adiust tsi tof pri 0.4 _ towardsimplementing aglobal two-pillar tax solution addressing the tax challenges arising from the
Justmen SmresD_eC ofprioryedars . digitalisation of the economy. The recently announced US trade dealhas notimpacted UK DST. We will
Totalcurrent taxation 96.9 917  continue to monitor the progress of any changes to the application of UK DST.
Deferred taxation
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (3.4) (3.0)
Adjustmentsinrespect of prioryears (0.4) (0.4)
Total deferred taxation (3.8) (3.4)
Total taxation charge 93.1 88.3
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per shareis calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary sharesinissue
during the year, excluding those held in treasury and by the Employee Share Option Trust (‘ESOT’),
based onthe profit for the year attributable to shareholders.

Weighted average Total
number of earnings Pence
ordinary shares £m pershare
Year ended 31 March 2025
Basic EPS 892,418,234 282.6 31.66
Diluted EPS 895,392,458 282.6 31.56
Year ended 31 March 2024
Basic EPS 912,582,172 256.9 28.15
Diluted EPS 915,302,568 256.9 28.07

The number of sharesinissue at the start of the yearisreconciled to the basic and diluted weighted
average number of shares below:

2025 2024
Issued ordinary shares at1April 907,213,454 923,074,657
Weighted effect of ordinary shares purchased for cancellation (9,986,345) (11,835,430)
Weighted effect of ordinary shares heldin treasury (4,507,565) (4,417,849)
Weighted effect of shares heldinthe ESOT (301,310) (330,294)
Weighted effect of ordinary sharesissued for share-based payments - 6,091,088
Weighted average number of shares for basic EPS 892,418,234 912,582,172
Dilutive impact of share options outstanding 2,974,224 2,720,396

Weighted average number of shares for diluted EPS 895,392,458 915,302,568

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of shares for basic EPS is adjusted
to assume conversion of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares. The Group has potentially dilutive
ordinary shares arising from share options granted to employees. Options are dilutive where the
exercise price together with the future IFRS 2 charge is less than the average market price of the
ordinary shares during the year. Options under the Performance Share Plan, the Single Incentive
Plan Award for the Auto Trader Leadership Team and certain key employees, the Single Incentive
Plan Award for allemployees, the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan and the Share Incentive Plan are
contingently issuable shares and are therefore only included within the calculation of diluted EPS
if the performance conditions are satisfied.

The average market value of the Group's shares for the purposes of calculating the dilutive effect
of share-based incentives was based on quoted market prices for the period during which the
share-basedincentives were outstanding.
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Software
and website
development Financial

Goodwill costs systems Brand Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 31 March 2023 544.6 27.3 13.1 48.2 29.7 662.9
Additions = 0.2 = = = 0.2
Disposals - (3.0) - - - (3.0)
At 31 March 2024 544.6 24.5 13.1 48.2 29.7 660.1
Disposals - (2.6) - - - (2.6)
At 31 March 2025 544.6 21.9 13.1 48.2 29.7 657.5

Accumulated amortisation and impairments

At 31 March 2023 17.0 9.9 13.1 4.3 17.6 161.9
Amortisation charge = 3.0 = 7.9 2.6 13.5
Disposals = (3.0) = = = (3.0)
At 31 March 2024 17.0 9.9 13.1 12.2 20.2 172.4
Amortisation charge = 2.7 = 1.2 1.6 15.5
Disposals = (2.6) = = = (2.6)
At 31 March 2025 117.0 10.0 13.1 23.4 21.8 185.3
Net book value at 31 March 2025 427.6 1.9 - 24.8 79 472.2
Net book value at 31 March 2024 427.6 14.6 - 36.0 9.5 487.7
Net book value at 31 March 2023 427.6 17.4 = 43.9 121 501.0

Otherintangiblesinclude customer relationships, technology, trade names, trademarks and
non-compete agreements. Intangible assets which have a finite useful life are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation of these intangible assetsis calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the cost of the assets over their estimated usefullives. The longest estimated
usefullife remaining at 31 March 2025is10 years (31 March 2024: 11 years).

For the year to 31 March 2025, the amortisation charge of £15.5m (2024: £13.5m) has been charged

to operating costsin the Consolidated income statement. The increased amortisation chargeis the
result of the useful economic life of the Vanarama brand being reduced to five years from acquisition,
following accelerated integration between Auto Trader and Autorama. This change took effectin
October2023.

At 31 March 2025, there were no software and website development costs representing assets under
construction (2024: £nil).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED

Inaccordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards, goodwillis not amortised, but
insteadis tested annually forimpairment, or more frequently if there are indicators of impairment.
Goodwillis carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment test for goodwill

Gooduwillis allocated to the appropriate cash-generating unit (‘CGU’) based on the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cashinflows independently inrelation to the specific
goodwill. There are two CGUs thatexistin the Group, being the Digital CGU and the Autorama CGU.

The carrying value of the CGUs is principally the sum of goodwill, property, plant and equipment
(including lease assets), intangibles and lease liabilities, and related deferred tax, as follows:

2025 2024

£m £m

Digital 353.1 352.3
Autorama 132.6 144.0

Digital

The recoverable amount of the Digital CGU, which includes goodwill of £335.1m, is determined
fromvalue-in-use calculations that use discounted cash flow projections from the latest business
plan. The carrying value is forecast to be recovered based on less than two years of forecasted cash
flows from this mature operating business.

Income and costs within the budget are derived on a detailed ‘bottom up’ basis - allincome streams
and costlines are considered and appropriate growth, or decling, rates are assumed. Income and cost
growth forecasts are risk adjusted to reflect specific risks facing the CGU and take into account the
marketinwhichitoperates. Assumptions, which are not sensitive to change, include revenue growth
rates, associated levels of marketing support and directly associated overheads. Allassumptions are
based onpastperformance and management’s expectation of market development. Cash flows
beyond the forecast period of five years (2024: five years) are extrapolated using the estimated
growthrate statedinto perpetuity; arate of 2.5% (2024: 2.5%) has been used. Thisis lower than the
currentrate of inflationin the UK but takes account of longer-term considerations.

The pre-tax discount rate used within the recoverable amount calculationis based upon the weighted
average cost of capital. The discount rate takesinto account the risk-free rate of return, the market
risk premium and beta factor reflecting the average beta for the Group and comparator companies
which are usedinderiving the cost of equity. Other than asincludedin the financial budget, itis
assumed that there are no material adverse changesin legislation that would affect the forecast
cash flows.

The key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculation are as follows:
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The recoverable amount of goodwill shows significant headroom compared withits carrying value.
The level of headroom may change if different growth rate assumptions or a different pre-tax
discountrate were usedin the cash flow projections. There are no changes to the key assumptions
of growthrate or discount rate that are considered by the Directors to be reasonably possible,
which giverise to animpairment of goodwill relating to the Digital CGU.

Having completed the 2025 impairment review, noimpairment has been recognisedinrelationto the
Digital CGU (2024: noimpairment).

Autorama
The recoverable amount of the Autorama CGU is based on a value-in-use methodology following
theintegration of the business since its acquisition by the Group.

Goodwillamounting to £92.5min the Autorama CGU arose on the acquisition of Autorama UK Limited
inJune 2022. The acquisition was undertaken to enable Auto Trader to establish, as part of its new
carstrategy, aleading marketplace for leasing new cars which, over time, is set to benefit from: the
growth of electric cars, new manufacturers entering the UK market and a shift towards new digital
distribution models. Leasing provides consumers a cost-effective way to access a new vehicle with
amodelthatis consistent with any future move towards usership rather than ownership.

Value-in-use reflects the present value of the future cash flows the Group expects to be derived
from the cash-generating unit. The key assumptions used in the estimation of the CGU’srecoverable
amountare as follows:

2025 2024
Forecast period S5years 6years
Compound annualgrowthrate forrevenue (from lease commissions and

ancillary sales) 41% 32%
Terminalvalue growthrate 2.5% 2.5%
Discount rate (pre-tax) 12.6% 12.8%

The five-year forecast period to 2030 is consistent with the period of regulatory and commercial
change expectedin the new vehicle market described above. The increased compound annual
growthrate forrevenue since the prior year reflects the phasing of growth over the forecast period
to 2030 asnew car supply recovers. Actualrevenuein the year ended 31 March 2025 was marginally
below the prioryearimpairment assessment, albeit with lower than forecast car units.

Assessment of the CGU’s value-in-use reflects long-term assumptions around changing distribution
models for new carsales, including new electric vehicles,and anincreased proportion of vehicles
being leased. Management have used historic market data published by The Society of Motor
Manufacturers & Traders ('SMMT’) and British Vehicle Rental & Leasing Association (‘BVRLA') toinform
their estimate of the number of new vehicles to be sold each year, the proportion of new vehicles

2025 2024
Terminalvalue growth rate 2.5% 259 which are expectedto be leased and the number of leases forecast to be transacted through brokers.
B R 12.6% 12.59% The forecastsinanyyeardonotassume alarger new car orvanregistration market thanin 2019,
P il =" before the disruption to supply that commenced during the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED

The key assumption of the forecast sales growth isincreasing the number of new vehicles
transacted by the Group onto lease plans, with revenues, including ancillary sales, consequent on
eachvehicle lease transaction completed. This sales growth, particularly for cars, is dependent
upon the assumption of asignificantincrease in the Group’s market share. Thisis principally
expected tobe achieved by further developing the capability for new vehicle lease transactions to
originate onthe well-established Auto Trader marketplace, under the Auto Trader brand, as well as
Vanarama. The reach of the Auto Trader audience is expected to support bothdemand and access
tonew vehicle supply. Growthin the forecast periodsis alower compound annual growth rate for
new van leases which has a more established market share.

Inthe yearto 31 March 2025, Autorama has delivered 6,268 vehicles (2024: 7,847 vehicles) of which an
increasing proportionyear-on-year originated on Auto Trader. The leasing market has continued to be
constrained by tight new car supply in the current and prior year, but supply is expected toimprove,
particularly as new car manufacturers enter the UK market, and by 31 March 2025, the business had
started to observe someimproved offers to customers. Future customer demandis expected to be
supported by reducing UK interest base rates, which are acomponent of lease rates of fered.

Inresponse to constrained supplyin the currentyear, the Group continued the integration of Autorama
into Auto Trader and focused onrealising post-acquisition cost synergiesin advance of market growth.
Consequently, Autorama’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 of £4.3mis lower than the prioryear
forecast for this period andis expected to be close to break-evenin the year ending 31 March 2026.

Therisk of sales growth assumptions for new vehicles transactedin this period not being achievedis
reflectedinthe base forecast cash flows rather than the pre-taxdiscountrate applied. The pre-tax
discountrate disclosed has been derived using a weighted average cost of capitaland using the
Capital Asset Pricing Model, reflecting UK-based assumptions for therisk-free rate.

The sensitivity of the impairment calculation at 31 March 2025 is reduced due to the accounting
requirement to have expensedin prior years the £49.9m share-based payment charge relating
todeferred consideration. All of this charge has been expensed at 31 March 2025, together with
acumulative £31.0m of acquired intangible amortisation.

Therecoverable amount at 31 March 2025 is dependent on achieving the planned sales growth
throughincreasing the number of leased vehicles by the end of the forecast periodin 2030.

A 25%reductionin the number of all new vehicles delivered in 2030, reflecting a lower market share,
wouldresultinanimpairment charge of £18m. The cash flows in 2030 have been sensitised because,
as the cash flow period on which the terminal value is calculated, 2030 is the period in which revenue
has the greatestimpact on the estimation of the recoverable amount. If the sensitised growthin
these cash flows was also deferred by one year to end in 2031, to reflect the risk of adelayin the
recovery of new car and van supply, the impairment charge would increase to £29m.

No reasonably possible changesin the discountrate orlong-term growth rate would resultinan
impairment charge.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land, buildings

and leasehold Office Motor Workin
improvements equipment vehicles progress Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 31 March 2023 21.7 13.2 2.0 = 36.9
Additions 2.8 1.4 0.2 = 4.4
Disposals (1.5) (4.1) (0.6) - (6.2)
At 31 March 2024 23.0 10.5 1.6 = 35.1
Additions 0.2 1.2 0.3 2.6 4.3
Disposals (0.2) (2.9) (1.0) - (4.1)
At 31 March 2025 23.0 8.8 0.9 2.6 35.3
Accumulated depreciation
At 31 March 2023 10.4 9.4 1.2 - 21.0
Charge for theyear 29 1.5 0.4 - 4.8
Disposals (1.1) (4.9) (0.4) - (5.6)
At 31 March 2024 12.2 6.8 1.2 = 20.2
Charge for the year 3.4 1.5 0.3 - 5.2
Disposals (0.2) (2.5) (0.8) - (3.5)
At 31 March 2025 15.4 5.8 0.7 - 21.9
Net book value at 31 March 2025 7.6 3.0 0.2 2.6 13.4
Netbookvalue at 31 March 2024 10.8 3.7 0.4 - 14.9
Net book value at 31 March 2023 1.3 3.8 0.8 - 15.9

Included within property, plant and equipment are £2.8m (2024: £5.0m) of assets recognised as
leasesunder IFRS16. Further details of these leases are disclosed in note 14. The depreciation
expense of £5.2m for the year to 31 March 2025 (2024: £4.8m) has beenrecorded in operating costs
inthe Consolidated income statement. During the year, £2.9m (2024: £5.3m) worth of property,
plantand equipment with £nilnet book value was disposed of.

During the period, the Group announced the planned relocation of its head office. The fit-out of
the new premises has commenced and the Group hasincurred costs of £2.6min 2025, disclosed
under workin progress. Depreciation of workin progress assets willcommence when they are
available foruse. Further details of capital commitments are givenin note 34.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

14. LEASES
The Group's lease assets are held within property, plant and equipment. Information about leases
forwhich the Groupis alesseeis presented below:

2025 2024
£m £m
Net bookvalue of property, plant and equipment owned 10.6 9.9
Net bookvalue of right of use assets 2.8 5.0
13.4 14.9
Land, buildings

and leasehold Office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
Netbook value of right of use assets £m £m £m £m
Balance at 31 March 2023 5.8 0.2 0.5 6.5
Additions 0.5 0.1 0.2 0.8
Disposals (0.1) - - (0.1)
Depreciation charge (1.8) (0.1) (0.3) (2.2)
Balance at 31 March 2024 4.4 0.2 0.4 5.0
Additions = 0.1 0.2 0.3
Disposals - - (0.2) (0.2)
Depreciation charge (2.0) (0.1) (0.2) (2.3)
At 31 March 2025 2.4 0.2 0.2 2.8
2025 2024
Lease liabilitiesinthe balance sheet at 31 March £m £m
Current 241 2.4
Non-current 0.4 2.4
Total 2.5 4.8

Amaturity analysis of contractualundiscounted cash flows relating to lease liabilities is presented
within note 30. The termrecognised for certain leases has assumed lease break options are exercised.
Certainleaserentals are subject to periodic market rental reviews.

During the prioryear, the Group reassessed its dilapidations provision forits leased properties which
resultedina £0.4mincrease in the provision and correspondingincrease in the right of use asset.
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2025 2024
Amounts chargedin theincome statement £m £m
Depreciation charge of right of use assets 2.3 2.2
Interest onlease liabilities 0.1 0.1
Totalamounts chargedintheincome statement 2.4 2.3

2025 2024
Cash outflow £m £m
Total cash outflow for leases 2.5 2.7

15. NETINVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Jointventures are contractual arrangements over which the Group exercises joint control with
partners and where the parties have rights to the net assets of the arrangement, irrespective of
the Group's shareholdingin the entity.

The Group owns 49% of the ordinary share capital of Dealer Auction Limited (previously Dealer Auction
(Holdings) Limited). The basis of the Group's joint controlis through a shareholder agreement and an
assessment of the substantive rights of each shareholder, including operational barriers orincentives
thatwould prevent or deter rights being exercised.

Netinvestmentsinjointventures at the reporting date include the Group’s equity investmentin joint
ventures and the Group's share of the joint ventures’ post acquisition net assets. The table below
reconciles the movementinthe Group’s netinvestmentinjoint venturesinthe year:

Equity Share of post Netinvestments
investmentsin acquisition net injoint
jointventures assets ventures
£m £m £m

Carrying value
As at 31 March 2023 37.4 1.9 49.3
Share of result for the year taken to the income statement - 2.8 2.8
Dividendsreceivedintheyear (3.9) - (3.9)
As at 31 March 2024 33.5 14.7 48.2
Share of result for the year taken to the income statement = 3.6 3.6
Dividendsreceivedin the year (4.4) = (4.4)
As at 31 March 2025 291 18.3 47.4
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

15. NET INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES CONTINUED

Setout belowis the summarised financialinformation for the joint venture, adjusted for differences
inaccounting policies between the Group and the joint venture. The table alsoreconciles the
summarised financialinformation to the carrying amount of the Group’sinterestin the joint venture.
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The Group designated the investmentiniAUTOS Company Limited as an equity security at FVOCI
as the Groupintends to hold the shares for long-term purposes. iAUTOS Company Limitedis an
intermediate holding company through which trading companiesincorporatedin the People’s
Republic of China are held. The fair value of the investment has been valued at £nil since 2014 as
the Chinese trading companies are marginally loss-making with forecast future cash outflows.
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2025 2024
£m gm  Theprotectedinsurance cell’s activity was the writing of insurance business relating to Guaranteed
Non-current assets 93.3 94.5  AssetProtectioninsurance and business equipmentin transit. The writing of new insurance business
ceased during the prioryear, therefore the cell willwind up once all existing policies terminate.
AT CEEEE Theinterestinthe protectedinsurance cellis not consolidatedin these financial statements as asilo,
Cash and cash equivalents 6.5 6.8 o'st_hecgllpomponyhosretomed reS|duolobl|gotlon3|nrespectofthecellshobmtles.AutoromgUK
Oth . . 21 o Limitedislisted as a guarantor to an agreement between the cellcompany and Autorama Holding
Areiblitn e el . : (Malta) Limited. No liability has been recognised for this guarantee by the Group under IFRS17 -
Totalassets 101.9 1034  |nsurance Contracts on the basis that its fair value is not material, reflecting the size and activity
of the protectedinsurance cell.
Liabilities
current liabilities 4.6 4.4 17.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
— 2025 2024
Totalliabilities 4.6 4.4 £m £m
Net assets 97.3 99.0 Tradereceivables (invoiced) 30.3 32.7
Group’s share of net assets 47.7 48.2  Netaccruedincome 44.4 42.8
Tradereceivables (total) 74.7 75.5
2025 2024 Prepayments 10.0 6.8
Em m Otherreceivables - 1.0
Revenues 16.3 13.2 ] g -
Profit for the year 7.3 5.7 L 84.7 g
Totalcomprehensiveincome 7.3 57 i i i )
Group's share of comprehensive income 3.6 08 TrOQerecelvobleS are amounts due from customg@ forservices performedinthe orQ|.norycourse of
— - business. They are generally due for settlement within 30 days and therefore are classified as current.
Dividends received by the Group 4.4 3.9

Non-current assets principally comprise goodwill and otherintangible assets. The carrying value
isassessed annually using a methodology consistent with the Auto Trader cash-generating unit
disclosedinnotei2.

Alistof theinvestmentsinjoint ventures, including the name, country of incorporation and proportion
of ownershipinterest, is giveninnote 33.

16. OTHERINVESTMENTS
Sharesinotherundertakings

Tradereceivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration thatisunconditionaland has
beeninvoiced atthereporting date. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effectiveinterestmethod. Included within trade receivables (invoiced) is a provision for the impairment
of financialassets of £3.1m (2024: £3.3m).

Accruedincomerelates to the Group'srights to consideration for services provided but notinvoiced
atthereporting date. Accruedincome s transferred to receivables when invoiced. Included within
netaccruedincomeis provision for the impairment of financial assets of £1.6m (2024: £1.7m).

Exposure to creditriskand expected credit losses relating to trade and other receivables are
disclosedin note 30.

2025 2024
£m £m 18. INVENTORIES
InvestmentiniAUTOS Company Limited - - InAutorama, the Group temporarily takes a small proportion of new vehicle deliveries on balance
Investmentin protected insurance cell (Atlas Insurance PCC Limited) 1.3 1.3  sheetasprincipal, which are held withininventory.
Total comprehensiveincome 1.3 1.3 2025 2024
£m £m
Finished goods 2.0 2.6
Inventories 2.0 2.6
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cashatbankandinhandisdenominatedinsterling:

2025 2024

£m £m
Cashatbankandinhand 15.3 18.7
Cash and cash equivalents 15.3 18.7

Cash balances with an original maturity of less than three months were held in current accounts
during the year and attracted interest at a weighted average rate of 3.2% (2024: 2.4%).

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2025 2024

£m £m

Trade payables 2.6 3.9
Accruals 13.9 17.7
Other taxes and social security 22.6 25.2
Deferredincome 5.3 7.3
Digital Services Tax 10.2 =
Vehicle stocking loan 1.0 2.1
Other payables 2.2 3.7
Accruedinterest payable 0.1 0.2
Total 57.9 60.1

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. The carrying
amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to
theirshort-termnature.

21. BORROWINGS

2025 2024
Non-current £m £m
Syndicated RCF gross of unamortised debtissue costs - 30.0
Unamortised debtissue costs on Syndicated RCF - (2.3)
Total borrowings - 27.7

Unamortised debtissue costs on the Syndicated RCF, which are now within Prepayments (note 17)
in 2025, decreased to £2.1minthe year (2024: £2.3m).

Borrowings are repayable as follows:
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Syndicated Revolving Credit Facility (‘Syndicated RCF’)

The Group has access to anunsecured Syndicated Revolving Credit Facility (the ‘Syndicated RCF').
Associated debt transaction costs total £6.5m, with £3.3m beingincurred atinitiationand £3.2m of
additional costs associated with extension requests.

With effect from1February 2023, the Group entered into an Amendment and Restatement Agreement
to extend the term of the facility for five years from the date of signing and to furtherreduce the
capacity of the facility to £200.0m. During 2024 the Group extended the Syndicated RCF by one year
to February 2029, and on1February 2025, exercised the second extension option, extending the term
of the facility by a further one year to February 2030. Until February 2029 the available facility is
£200m, reducing to £165m thereafter due to one lender not participating in the second extension
option. No further extensions are permitted under the current agreement.

Thereisnochange to the interestrate payable and thereisnorequirementto settle all or part of the
debt before the termination date stated. The associated debt transaction costs of the extension
were £0.3m, which were paidin the period.

Individualtranches are drawndown, in sterling, for periods of up to sixmonths at the compounded
referencerate (being the aggregate of SONIA for thatinterest period) plus a margin of between1.2%
and 2.1% depending on the consolidated leverage ratio of the Group. As part of the Amendment and
Restatement Agreement of the Syndicated RCFin 2023, three sustainability performance targets
wereincorporatedinto the agreement (to be tested annually with 2024 being the first period of
testing). The margin shall be increased or decreased between -0.05% and 0.05% based on the number
of sustainability performance targets achievedin the reporting period. Acommitment fee of 35% of
the margin applicable to the Syndicated RCFis payable quarterly in arrears on unutilised amounts of
the total facility.

The Syndicated RCF has financial covenants linked to interest cover and the consolidated debt cover
of the Group:

- Netbankdebtto EBITDA must notexceed 3.5:1.

- EBITDAtonetinterest payable must not be less than 3.0:1.

EBITDAisdefined asearnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation, share-based
payments and associated NI, share of profit fromjoint ventures and exceptionalitems.

Allfinancial covenants of the facility have been complied with through the period.

Exposure tointerest rate changes
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings (excluding debtissue costs) to SONIA rate changes and the
contractualrepricing dates at the balance sheet date are as follows:

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2025 2024 2025 2024
£m £m £m £m
Lessthanoneyear - - Onemonthorless - 30.0
Two to fiveyears - 30.0 Total - 30.0
Total - 30.0
The carrying amounts of borrowings approximates to their fair values.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

22.PROVISIONS
Dilapidations Holidaypay

provision provision Total

£m £m £m

At 31 March 2024 1.6 0.8 2.4
Charged to theincome statement = 1.0 1.0
Utilisedin the year - (0.8) (0.8)
Recognised underIFRS16 = = =
Releasedin the year = = =
At 31 March 2025 1.6 1.0 2.6
2025 2024

£m £m

Current 1.0 0.8
Non-current 1.6 1.6
Total 2.6 2.4

23. DEFERRED TAXATION

Anetdeferredtaxasset of £1.Imhas beenrecognisedin the balance sheet at 31 March 2025 (2024:
deferred taxliability of £2.9m). The movementin deferred taxation assets and liabilities during the year,
without takinginto consideration the of fsetting of balances within the same taxjurisdiction, is as follows:

Accelerated Other

Share-based capital temporary
payments allowances differences Total
Deferred taxation assets £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2023 3.7 1.9 7.1 12.7
(Debited)/credited to theincome statement 1.1 (0.8) (0.3) —
Debited directly to equity (0.5) - - (0.5)
At 31 March 2024 4.3 1.1 6.8 12.2
(Debited)/credited to the income statement 0.3 (0.3) (0.1) (0.1)
Debited directly to equity 0.2 = = 0.2
At 31 March 2025 4.8 0.8 6.7 12.3

Acquired Other

intangible temporary
assets differences Total
Deferred taxation liabilities £m £m £m
At 31 March 2023 15.1 3.4 18.5
Credited to theincome statement (3.4) = (3.4)
At 31 March 2024 n.7z 3.4 15.1
Credited to theincome statement (2.8) (1.1) (3.9)
At 31 March 2025 8.9 2.3 1.2
Net deferred tax liability at 31 March 2024 (2.9)
Net deferred tax asset at 31 March 2025 1.1

The Group has estimated that an additional £1.7m net deferred tax asset will be recognisedin the next
12 months (2024: £2.5m net deferred tax liability realised). Thisis management’s current best estimate
and may notreflect the actual outcome in the next12 months.
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24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(i) Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes. Inthe year to 31 March 2025, the
pension contributions to the Group’s defined contribution schemes amounted to £4.7m (2024: £4.1m).
At 31 March 2025, there were £0.8m (31 March 2024: £0.7m) of pension contributions outstanding
relating to the Group’s defined contribution schemes.

(ii) Defined benefit scheme

The Company sponsors a funded defined benefit pension scheme for qualifying UK employees, the
Wiltshire (Bristol) Limited Retirement Benefits Scheme (‘the Scheme’). The Scheme is administered by a
separate board of Trustees, whichis legally separate from the Company. The Trustees are composed
of representatives of both the Company and members. The Trustees are required by law to actinthe
interest of all relevant beneficiaries and are responsible for the investment policy for the assets and
the day-to-day administration of the benefits.

The Scheme has been closed to future members since 30 April 2006 and there are noremaining active
members within the Scheme. No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.

Profile of the Scheme

As at 31 March 2025, approximately 40% of the defined benefit obligation (‘DBO’) is attributable
to former employees who have yet toreach retirement (2024: 40%) and 60% to current pensioners
(2024: 60%). The Scheme durationis anindicator of the weighted-average time until benefit payments
are made. For the Scheme as awhole, the durationis approximately 13 years (2024: 15 years).

Buy-in

Inthe yearended 31 March 2023, the Scheme purchased a bulk annuity policy (known as a buy-in) from
Just Retirement Limited (‘Just Retirement’) for £15.4m, which was funded by a £1.0m contribution by

the Company along with existing Scheme assets. This policy secured the full benefits of all Scheme
members, which as atthe remeasurement date amounted to £13.7m. Given the financial strength of
Just Retirement, this buy-in substantively removes the risk of further contributions being required from
the Company to provide benefits to members, beyond those noted below.

Following the buy-in, the Scheme’s assets largely comprise the bulk annuity policy held with Just
Retirement, along with a smallamount of additional assets currently held with LGIM. The Scheme
trustees are now working to progress towards a full buy-out, which willinvolve various data and
benefits exercises. Itis anticipated that the Scheme buy-out willbe completedin first half of financial
year 2026. Once the buy-outis complete, the Scheme has no further purpose and will be wound up.

Funding requirements

UK legislationrequires that pension schemes are funded prudently. The last funding valuation of the
Scheme was carried out by a qualified actuary as at 30 April 2021 and showed a surplus of £1.5m. The
Company paid deficit contributions of £140k pa to 31 January 2022, plus an additional £1.2minrespect
of the shortfall versus the buy-in premium. The next funding valuation was due as at 30 April 2024,
althoughitis anticipated that the buy-out of the scheme will be completed prior to the statutory
deadline for completion of this valuation. The Company expects that a further contribution may
berequiredintheyearending 31 March 2026 inrespect of the balancing premium, once the data
cleansing and benefitrectificationis completed. The Company also pays expenses and PPF levies
incurred by the Scheme.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS CONTINUED

Risks associated with the Scheme

The Scheme exposes the Company to some risks, although the purchase of a buy-in policy
substantially mitigates these.

Assetvolatility The ljabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate
bondyields. If assets underperform thisyield, this will create a deficit. The Scheme
previously held asignificant proportion of gilt and bond assets which limits volatility
andriskin the shortterm. The allocation of assets is monitored to ensure itremains
appropriate given the Scheme’s long-term objectives.

Inflationrisk Aproportion of the Scheme’s benefit obligations are linked to inflation, and higher
inflation leads to higher liabilities (although, in most cases, caps on the level of
inflationaryincreases are in place to protect against extreme inflation). The
majority of the assets are either unaffected by or only loosely correlated with
inflation, meaning that anincrease ininflation will also increase the deficit.

ghagg? il';‘ Adecreaseincorporate bondyields willincrease the value placed on the Scheme's
LAk liabilities for accounting purposes, although this willbe partially offset by an
increase inthe value of the Scheme’s bond holdings.

Life expectancy The majority of the Scheme’s obligations are to provide benefits for the lifetime of
the member, soincreasesin life expectancy willresultin anincrease in the liabilities.

Assumptions used

The results of the latest funding valuation at 30 April 2021 have been adjusted to the new balance sheet
date, taking account of experience over the period since 30 April 2021, changes in market conditions,
and differencesin the financial and demographic assumptions. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation, and therelated current service cost, were measured using the projected unit credit method.

The principal assumptions used to calculate the liabilities under IAS 19 are as follows:

2025 2024
% %
Discountrate for scheme liabilities 5.80 4.80
CPlinflation 2.80 2.80
RPlinflation 3.30 3.40
Pensionincreases
Post1988 GMP 2.20 2.20
Pre 2004 non GMP 5.00 5.00
Post 2004 3.05 3.15

The financial assumptions reflect the nature and term of the Scheme's liabilities. The weighted
average duration of the Scheme liabilities at the year endis14 years (2024: 15 years). Thisreductionis
due to the discountrate increase whichis the principalreason for the decrease in the value of Scheme
liabilities compared with the prior year.

The Group has assumed that mortality will be in line with nationally published mortality table SAPS
S3Heavy tables with CMI 2021 projections related to members’ years of birth with long-termrate
of improvement of 1.5% per annum.

Strategic report Governance
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These tables translate into an average life expectancy for a pensioner retiring at age 65 as follows:

2025 2024
Men Women Men Women

Years Years Years Years

Member aged 65 (current life expectancy) 86.0 88.5 86.1 88.6
Member aged 45 (life expectancy at age 65) 87.8 90.4 87.9 90.4

Itisassumed that 50% of non-retired members of the Scheme will commute the maximum amount
of cash atretirement (2024: 50%).

Post-employment benefit obligations disclosures
The following amounts have beenrecognisedin the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

2025 2024

£m £m

Return on Scheme assets below thatrecognisedinnetinterest 2.2 0.5

Actuarial gains due to changesin assumptions (1.5) (0.7)

Actuariallosses due to liability experience (0.1) OFS

Effect of the surplus cap - =

Deferred tax onsurplus (0.1) -
Total amounts recognised within the Consolidated statement

of comprehensiveincome (0.5) 0.1
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

24.RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS CONTINUED
Amountsrecognisedin the balance sheetare as follows:

2025 2024

£m £m
Presentvalue of funded obligations 1.3 13.4
Fairvalue of plan assets (11.5) (14.0)
Net assetrecognised in the Consolidated balance sheet (0.2) (0.6)

The Trustees of the Scheme sought legal advice which concluded that the Group has an unconditional
rightto arefund of surplus from the Scheme, if the Scheme were to be run-off until the final beneficiary
died. As aresult, the Group has concluded that IFRIC 14 does not apply, and therefore has recognised
the accounting surplus of £0.2m (2024: £0.6m) and an associated deferred tax liability of £0.1m (2024:
£0.2m)inthe Consolidated balance sheet.

Movementsinthe fair value of Scheme assets were as follows:

2025 2024

Strategic report Governance
Plan assets are comprised as follows:
2025 2024
£m % £m %
Gilts - - 0.4 2.9
Cash 0.2 2.0 0.2 1.4
Buy-in policy 1.3 98.0 13.4 95.7
Total 1.5 100.0 14.0 100.0

Allplan assets have a quoted market price.

Sensitivity to key assumptions

The key financial assumptions used for IAS19 are the discount and inflation rates. Given that the
Scheme’s buy-in policyis valued exactly equal to the DBO, changesin the key assumptions no longer
have anyimpact onthe net funded status position.

25. SHARE CAPITAL

em o 2025 2024
Fairvalue of Scheme assets at the beginning of the year 14.0 141 gparecapital N”","g&; Amount N”"?‘;’:(; Am°;’:
Interestincome on Scheme assets 0.7 0.7 Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares
Remeasurement losses on Scheme assets (2.2) (0.5) oflpeach
Contributions by the employer 0.1 0.1  AtlApril 907,214 9.2 923,075 9.3
Settlements - = Purchase and cancellation of own shares (22,513) (0.3) (23,711) (0.2)
Net benefits paid (1.1) (0.4) Issueofshares - - 7,850 0.1
Fair value of Scheme assets at the end of the year 1.5 14.0 Total 884,701 8.9 907,214 9.2
Movementsinthe fair value of Scheme liabilities were as follows: Under authority passed at the 2024 AGM the Company is authorised to make market purchases of

2025 2024 yptoamaximum of 10%(89,654,939) of its own ordinary shares (excluding shares held in treasury),

- — — £m £m subject to minimum and maximum price restrictions.
Fair value of Scheme liabilities at the beginning of the year 13.4 13.6
Past service cost _ _ Inthe yearended 31 March 2025, a total of 23,873,028 ordinary shares of £0.01 were purchased. The
Interest expense 0.6 0.6 Gverage price poidwos783.2pwithototolcqnsiderotionpoid(including fges of £0.9m) of£188.2m.
peaielasimenSeiems s e e femehensesinessumpieTs (1.5) 0.7) Of allshares purchosed,],Sé0,000vyere heldin treasury with 22,513,028 being cancelled. In the prior
year, 7,849,782 ordinary shares were issued for the settlement of share-based payments.

Actuarial (gains)/losses on Scheme liabilities arising from experience (0.1) 0.3
Net benefits paid 11 (0.4) Included withinsharesinissue at 31 March 2925 are 294,600(20.24: 3?12,831)sh0res held by the ESOT
G e S aE e e e ot 13 13.4 and 4,600,897 (2024: 4,899,346) shares held in treasury, as detailed in note 26.
Movementsin post-employment benefit net obligations were as follows:

2025 2024

£m £m
Opening post-employment benefit surplus (0.6) (0.5)
Past service cost - -
Settlement cost - -
Contributions by the employer (0.1) (0.1)
Remeasurement and experience losses 0.5 -
Closing post-employment benefit surplus (0.2) (0.6)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

26. OWN SHARES HELD

ESOT shares
reserve Treasuryshares Total
Ownsharesheld -£m £m £m £m
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2023 (0.4) (25.6) (26.0)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - (11.1) (1.1
Share-basedincentives exercised = 5.8 5.8
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2024 (0.4) (30.9) (31.3)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - (10.8) (10.8)
Share-basedincentives exercised = 10.5 10.5
Own shares held as at 31 March 2025 (0.4) (31.2) (31.6)
ESOT shares
reserve Treasuryshares Total
Ownshares held -number Number of shares Number of shares Number of shares
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2023 340,196 4,371,505 4,711,701
Transfer of shares from ESOT (27,365) = (27,365)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - 1,496,445 1,496,445
Share-basedincentives exercised - (968,604) (968,604)
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2024 312,831 4,899,346 5,212,177
Transfer of shares from ESOT (18,231) - (18,231)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - 1,360,000 1,360,000
Share-basedincentives exercised - (1,658,449) (1,658,449)
Own shares held as at 31 March 2025 294,600 4,600,897 4,895,497
27.DIVIDENDS
Dividends declared and paid by the Company were as follows:
2025 2024
Pence Pence
pershare £m pershare £m
2024 finaldividend paid 6.4 57.3 5.6 51.3
2025 interim dividend paid 3.5 31.1 3.2 29.1
9.9 88.4 8.8 80.4

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 of 7.1p per share, totalling £62.5m, is
subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (AGM’) and hence has not been

included as aliability inthe financial statements.

The Directors’ policy withregard to future dividendsis set outin the Financial review on page 28.
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28. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
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2025 2024
£m £m
Profit after tax 282.6 256.9
Adjustments for:
Taxcharge 93.1 88.3
Depreciation 5.2 4.8
Amortisation 15.5 13.5
Share-based payments charge (excluding associated NI) 9.7 7.5
Deferred contingent consideration - 10.4
Share of profit fromjoint ventures (3.6) (2.8)
Profiton sale of property, plant and equipment - 0.3
Finance costs 1.1 3.5
R&D expenditure credit (2.3) (0.1)
Changesinworking capital (excluding the effects of exchange differences
on consolidation):
Trade and otherreceivables 0.6 (10.4)
Trade and other payables (3.0) 6.0
Provisions 0.2 0.1
Inventory 0.6 1.0
Cash generated from operations 399.7 379.0
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group currently operates five share plans: the Share Incentive Plan, Performance Share Plan,
Deferred Annual Bonus, Single Incentive Plan Award and the Sharesave scheme. All share-based
incentives are subject to aservice condition. Such conditions are not taken into accountin the fair
value of the service received. The fair value of servicesreceivedinreturn for share-based incentivesis
measured by reference to the fair value of share-based incentives granted. Black-Scholes and Monte
Carlomodels have beenused where appropriate to calculate the fair value of share-basedincentives
with market conditions.

The totalchargeinthe periodrelating to the five schemes was £11.7m (2024: £8.2m). This included
associated nationalinsurance (‘NI') at the rate at which management expects to be effective when the
awards are exercised,and apprenticeship levy at 0.5%, based on the share price at the reporting date.

The share-based payment charge reportedinthe prior periodincluded a £10.4m charge for the
deferred share-based payment consideration relating to the acquisition of Autorama.

Group Company
2025 2024 2025 2024
£m £m £m £m
Share Incentive Plan (‘SIP’) - - - -
Sharesave scheme (‘SAYE’) 0.7 0.7 - -
Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) 241 2.1 241 2.1
Deferred Annual Bonus and Single Incentive Plan 6.9 4.7 0.6 0.6
Nland apprenticeship levy on applicable schemes 2.0 0.7 0.6 0.3
Total charge from ongoing share schemes 1.7 8.2 3.3 3.0
Share-based payments relating to Autorama
acquisition - 10.4 - =
Totalcharge 1.7 18.6 3.3 3.0

During the year, the Directorsin office in totalhad £3.1m gains (2024: £nil) arising on the exercise
of share-based incentive awards.

Share Incentive Plan

In 2015, the Group established a Share Incentive Plan (‘SIP’). All eligible employees were awarded
free shares (or nil-cost optionsin the case of employeesin Ireland) valued at £3,600 each based
ontheshare price at the time of the Company’s admission to the Stock Exchange in March 2015.
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UK SIP

2025 2024

Number Number

Outstanding at1April 68,950 96,315

Released (18,231) (27,365)

Outstanding at 31 March 50,719 68,950

Vested and outstanding at 31 March 50,719 68,950

The weighted average market value per ordinary share for SIP awards released was 810.4p
(2024: 695.0p). The SIP shares outstanding at 31 March 2025 have fully vested (2024: fully vested).
Sharesreleased prior to the vesting date relate to those attributable to good leavers as defined
by the Schemerules.

Performance Share Plan

The Group operates a Performance Share Plan ('PSP’) for Executive Directors, the Auto Trader
Leadership Team and certain key employees. The extent to which awards vest willdepend upon

the Group's performance over the three-year period following the award date. Both market-based
and non-market-based performance conditions may be attached to the options. An appropriate
adjustmentis made for market-based performance conditions when calculating the fair value of an
option. If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the options
expire. Furthermore, options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest,
unlessunder exceptional circumstances.

On 20 September 2024, the Group awarded 457,203 nil cost options under the PSP scheme

(2024: 355,183). For the 2024 awards, the Group's performance is measured by reference to growthin
earnings per share (70% of the award), revenue (20% of the award) and carbon reduction (10% of the
award) over athree-year period to March 2027.

For other previous awards, the Group's performance had been measured by reference to growth
inoperating profitand revenue over a three-year period, total shareholder returnrelative to

the FTSE 350 share index (2017 and 2020 awards), diversity progress (2021 award) and carbon
reduction (2022 and 2023 awards).

The fairvalue of the 2024 and 2023 awards was determined to be the share price at grant date. In
previousyears, the totalshareholder return element was valued using the Monte Carlo model. The
resulting share-based payments charge is being spread evenly over the period between the grant
date and the vesting date.

152

Auto Trader Group plc AnnualReportand Financial Statements 2025

113 -168

114 Independent auditor’s
report to the members
of Auto Trader Group plc

126 Consolidatedincome
statement

127 Consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

128 Consolidated balance sheet

129 Consolidated statement
of changesin equity

130 Consolidated statement
of cash flows

131 Notestothe consolidated
financial statements

161 Company balance sheet

162 Company statement
of changesin equity

163 Notes to the Company
financial statements

167 Unaudited five-yearrecord

168 Shareholderinformation




Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED

PSP award holders are entitled toreceive dividends accruing between the grant date and the vesting
date and this value will be deliveredin shares. The assumptions used in the measurement of the fair

value at grant date of the PSP awards are as follows:

2025 2024
Share price Risk- Non- Fair Number NUmbeEn
atgrant Exercise Expected Option free Dividend vesting value per OUtStondinth]April 1,116,040 1,399,984
rant date condition dut: prlc: volotlllt;{ yel:li: rat; ylel:/j condltlo;: optloz Optionsgrontedintheyeor 457,203 355,183
16Jun2017 TSR 4.00 Nil 31 3.0 02 0.0 0.0 2.17  Dividendshares awarded 14,018 -
16Jun2017  OP 4.00 Nil N/A 30 0.2 0.0 0.0 4.00 Optionsforfeitedintheyear (1,421)  (591,580)
30Aug?2017 TSR 3.42 Nil 31 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 217 Options exercisedin the year (401,259) (47,547)
30 AUg 2017 OP 3.42 Nil N/A 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 3.42 Outstanding at 31 March 1,174,581 1,116,040
23Jun2022 OP 53 Nl N/A 30 20 13 0.0 53 Exercisableat3lMarch 1,500 31,801
23Jun2022 Revenue 5.31 Nil N/A 3.0 2.0 1.3 0.0 5.31
23 Jun2022 Carbonreduction 5.31 Nil N/A 3.0 2.0 1.3 0.0 5.3 Theweighted average marketvalue perordinary share for PSP options exercised in 2025 was 844.1p
29 Jun2023 OP 6.99 Nil N/A 30 4.9 14 0.0 6.9 (2024:714.0p).ThePSPowordsoutStondingot31N\qrch2025hoveoweightedovgrogeremoining
99 Jun2023  Revenue 6.9 Nil N/A 30 49 14 0.0 6.99 Z/Qeosztllr.\ggﬁjeggi)of1.3yeors(2024.1A2yeors)ondowelghtedoverogecontrcctuolllfeof8.4yeors
22Jun2023 Carbonreduction 6.22 Nil N/A 3.0 49 1.4 0.0 6.22 e ’
2086p2024 oP 7.44 Nil N/A 3.0 4.3 1.4 0.0 7.44 DeferredAnnUQlBOnUSQndSinglelnCentiVeplQnAWCII'd
20Sep 2024 Revenue 744 Nil N/A 30 43 14 0.0 744 TheGroupoperotestheDeferredA.nnuolBonusondslngleIncentlvePlonAwordforExecutlve
. . Directors, the Auto Trader Leadership Team and certain key employees. The plan consists of two
Zutepatzn Lot IeUie o s ML s 54 43 [ oo s schemes, the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (‘DABP’) and the Single Incentive Plan Award (‘SIPA').
In addition, inthe prior period the Group announced a Single Incentive Plan Award for allemployees
under the existing scheme rules.
Deferred Annual Bonus
The Group operates a Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (‘DABP’) for Executive Directors. Awards under
the plan are contingent on the satisfaction of pre-setinternal targetsrelating to financialand
operational objectives. The extent to which the awards vest will depend upon the satisfaction
of the Group’s financial and operational performance in the financial year of the award date
(the ‘Performance Conditions’). The awards will vest on the second anniversary of the date the
Remuneration Committee determines that the Performance Conditions have been satisfied
(the 'Vesting Period’). Awards are potentially forfeitable during that period should the employee
leave employment. The DABP awards have been valued using the Black-Scholes method where
appropriate and the resulting share-based payments charge is being spread evenly over the
combined Performance Period and Vesting Period of the shares, being three years.
0On 22 June 2024, the Group awarded 115,501 nil cost options under the DABP scheme (2024:103,330).
DABP award holders are entitled to receive dividends accruing between the grantdate and the
vesting date and this value will be deliveredin shares. The assumptions used in the measurement
of the fairvalue at grant date of the DABP awards are as follows:
153
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Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grantdate.

The number of options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March 2025 was as follows:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED

Theresulting share-based payments chargeis being spread evenly over the period between the

share price M- grantdate and the vesting date. SIPA holders are entitled toreceive dividends accruing between
atgrant  Exercise Risk-free  Dividend vesting Fairvalue  the grantdate and the vesting date and thisvalue willbe deliveredinshares. 1 1 3 — 1 6 8
date price Optionlife rate yield condition peroption
Grantdate £ £ yaas % % 2 £  Theassumptionsusedin the measurement of the fair value at grant date of the SIPA awards are
23 June 2022 5.31 Nil 2.0 2.0 1.3 0.0 531  qsfollows:
22.JUne 2023 622 Nll 20 49 14 OO 622 Shureprice Non- 114 mdepeﬂdentOUdltor’S
i atgrant Exercise Expected Dividend vesting  Fairvalue
L2 20 e Nil 240 el L Gy e date price  volatility Optionlife  Risk-free yield condition peroption report to the members
. . . Grantdate £ £ % years rate % % % £ Of AUtO TrOder GrOUD plC
The number of options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March was as follows: 17 August 2018 4.48 Nil N/A 30 07 17 0.0 4.48
17 June 2019 5.65 Nil N/A 3.0 0.6 1.3 0.0 5.65 . .
2025 2024 i 4 126 Consolidatedincome
: : Number Number g jyly 2020 5.27 Nil N/A 3.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 5.27 statement
Outstanding at1April 212,034 108,704 94 November 2020 5.52 Nil N/A 3.0 (0.1) 0.0 0.0 5.52
Options grantedin the year 15,501 103,330 17 )yne 2021 6.29 Nil N/A 3.0 0.2 09 00  6.29
Dw@jend shorgs ovyorded 2,992 - 93june2022 5 31 Nil N/A 30 20 13 0.0 5 31 127 Consolidated sFotgment
OpthnS e?<erC|sed Intheyeor (1"1696) - 22 June 2023 6.22 Nil N/A 3.0 49 1.4 0.0 6.22 Of ComprehenSIve Income
Dutstandinglaesivaich 218,831 212,034 5 November 2023 6.25 Nil N/A 3.0 45 1.4 0.0 6.25
Exercisable at 31 March - ~ 26June2024 7.44 Nil N/A 3.0 41 1.4 0.0 7.44 128 Consolidated balance sheet
28 November 2024 8.53 Nil N/A 3.0 4.1 1.4 0.0 8.53
111,696 DABP options were exercised in 2025 (2024: No DABP options exercised). 129 Consolidated statement
Single Incentive Plan Award The number of options outstanding and exercisable as at 3t March was as follows: of changes in equity
The Group operates a Single Incentive Plan Award ('SIPA’) for the Auto Trader Leadership Team
and certain key employees. The extent to which awards vest will depend upon the satisfaction 2025 A .
= SRy . ) : 2 , Number Number 130 Consolidated statement
of the Group's financial and operational performance in the financial year of the award date (the - -
Outstanding at1April 2,513,318 1,517,766 of cash flows

‘Performance Conditions’). The awards will vestin tranches, with the first tranche vesting on the
date onwhich the Remuneration Committee determines that the Performance Conditions have
beensatisfied, and subsequent tranches vesting on the first and second anniversary of this date,
subjectto continuing employment.

On 26 June 2024, the Group awarded 572,377 nil cost options under the SIPA scheme for the
Operational Leadership Team and certain key employees (2024: 618,497). For the 2024 awards, 75%
of the award value isdependent on FY25 operating profit and the remaining 25% linked to the
achievement of strategic and operational milestones against our digital retailing strategy. The fair
value of the 2024 award was determined to be £7.44 per option, being the share price at grantdate.

During the prioryear, the Group announced a new All-Employee Single Incentive Plan Award (‘One
Auto Trader Share Award’) that rewards employees with an extra10% of their salary in shares.
The awards will vestin tranches, with the first tranche vesting on the first anniversary of the grant
date and subsequent tranches vesting on the first and second anniversary of this date, subject to
continuing employment.

On 28 November 2024, the Group awarded 831,018 nil cost options under the SIPA scheme for
allemployees (2024:1,049,495). The fair value of the 2024 award was determined to be £8.53 per
option (2024: £6.25), being the average of the mid-market price for the three months leading up
tothe grantdate.

Options grantedinthe year 1,403,395 1,667,992
Dividend shares awarded 12,273 10,239

Options exercised inthe year (166,066) (515,383)
Options forfeited inthe year (949,534) (167,296)
Outstanding at 31 March 2,813,386 2,513,318
Exercisable at 31 March 140,567 473,755

The weighted average market value per ordinary share for SIPA options exercised in 2025 was 827.4p
(2024: 680.4p). The SIPA awards outstanding at 31 March 2025 have a weighted average remaining
vesting period of 3.0 years (2024: 2.9 years) and a weighted average contractuallife of 8.7 years
(2024: 8.7 years). The charge for the yearincludes an estimate of the awards to be granted after the
balance sheetdateinrespect of achievement of 2022 targets.

Sharesave scheme

The Group operates a Sharesave (‘SAYE’) scheme for allemployees under which employees are
granted an option to purchase ordinary sharesin the Company at up to 20% less than the market
price atinvitation,in three years’ time, dependent on their entering into a contract to make monthly
contributionsinto a savings account over the relevant period. Options are granted and are linked
toasavings contract with aterm of three years. These funds are used to fund the option exercise.
No performance criteria are applied to the exercise of Sharesave options.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED
The assumptions usedin the measurement of the fair value at grantdate of the Sharesave plan are
asfollows:

Share price

atgrant Exercise Expected Dividend Non-vesting Fairvalue

date price volatility Optionlife Risk-free yield condition peroption

Grantdate £ £ % years rate % % % £
16 December 2020 5.75 4.41 32 3.0 0.0 0.5 10 1.86
16 December 2021 7.13 5.88 32 3.0 0.5 0.5 10 2.05
14 December 2022 5.64 4.56 34 3.0 3.2 1.3 10 1.87
23 July 2024 8.04 6.37 27 3.0 4.0 1.3 10 2.56

Expectedvolatilityis estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grant
date. The requirement that an employee has to savein order to purchase shares under the Sharesave
planis anon-vesting condition. This feature has beenincorporatedinto the fairvalue at grantdate
by applying adiscount to the valuation obtained from the Black-Scholes pricing model.

2025 2024
Weighted average Weighted average
Number of share exerciseprice  Numberof share exercise price
options £ options £
Outstanding at1April 856,958 4.84 1,366,352 4.72
Options grantedinthe year 489,713 6.37 - -
Options exercisedinthe year (194,413) 5.48 (407,221) 4.40
Options cancelledin the year (33,013) 5.16 - -
Options lapsedinthe year (30,403) 5.16 (102,173) 4.92
Outstanding at 31 March 1,088,842 5.40 856,958 4.84
Exercisable at 31 March 42,965 5.81 54,288 4.4

The weighted average market value per ordinary share for Sharesave options exercised in 2025 was
776.2p (2024: 711.8p). The Sharesave options outstanding at 31 March 2025 have a weighted average
remaining vesting period of 1.5 years (2024:1.5 years) and a weighted average contractual life of 2.0

years (2024: 2.0 years).

Strategic report Governance

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets

2025 2024

Note £m £m

Net trade receivables (invoiced) 17 30.3 32.7

Net accruedincome 17 44.4 42.8

Net trade receivables (total) 17 74.7 75.5

Otherreceivables 17 - 1.0

Cash and cash equivalents 19 15.3 18.7

Total 90.0 95.2

Creditrisk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at 31 March 2025 was £90.0m (2024: £95.2m). The maximum exposure to credit
risk for trade receivables and accrued income at the reporting date by geographic region was:

2025 2024
£m £m

UKk 74.7 75:5
Total 74.7 755

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and accrued income at the reporting date
by type of customer was:

2025 2024

£m £m

Retailers 62.5 58.0
Manufacturerand Agency 4.9 6.6
Other 1.4 4.7
Autorama 5.9 6.2
Total 74.7 75.5

The Group's most significant customer accounts for £2.0m (2024: £1.8m) of net trade receivables as at
31March 2025.

Expected credit loss assessment

Expected creditlosses are measured using a provisioning matrix based on actual credit loss
experience over the past three years and adjusted, whenrequired, to take into account current
macro-economic factors. For certain customers the Group applies experienced credit judgement
thatis determined to be predictive of the risk of loss to assess the expected credit loss, taking into
accountexternalratings, financial statements and other available information.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
The following table providesinformation about the exposure to creditrisk and expected credit losses
fortrade receivables and accruedincome fromindividual customers as at 3t March 2025.

Strategic report Governance

The movementin the allowance forimpairmentinrespect of trade receivables during the year was
as follows.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2025 2024
Note £m £m
Gross At1April 17 3.3 3.0
Expected carrying Loss X
creditloss amount  allowance Credit- Chargedduring the year 1.3 1.9
- rate £m £m impaired Utilised during the year (1.5) (1.6)
Accruedincome 3.5% 46.0 (1.6) No
At 31 March 17 3.1 3.3
Current 3.2% 28.0 (0.9) No
Pastdue1-30days 6.5% 3.1 (0.2) No Th tintheall fori . . ¢ di during th
st de F=a0deys 40.0% 0.5 0.2) No Osiglz\\jvesmen inthe allowance forimpairmentinrespect of accrued income during the year was
Past due 61-90 days 100.0% 0.3 (0.3) No ’
2025 2024
More than 91days past due 100.0% 1.5 (1.5) No Note £m £m
79.4 (4.7) At1April 17 1.7 1.5
Chargedduring the year (0.1) 0.2
At 31 March 2024, ECLsreflected macro-economic uncertainty around retailer profitability due to Utilised during the year - =
persistent highinflation, highinterest rates and the upcoming UK general election. At 31 March 2025, At 31 March 17 1.6 1.7

ECLswere adjusted toreflect lower levels of inflation and falling interest rates while taking into
consideration the cost pressures faced by retailer customers.

Sensitivity analysis has been performed in assessing the expected creditloss rate. There are no
changes to therate thatare considered by the Directors to be reasonably possible, which give
rise toamaterial differenceinthe loss allowance.

Comparative information about the exposure to credit risk and expected credit losses for trade
receivables fromindividual customers as at 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Cash and cash equivalents

The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank and financialinstitution counterparties, which are
rated between P-1and P-2 based on Moody's ratings. The Directors do not consider deposits at these
institutions to be atrisk.

Financial liabilities

2025 2024
Asper Future Total As per Future Total
balance interest cash balance interest cash
sheet cost flows sheet cost flows
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Trade and other payables 18.8 - 18.8 25.5 - 25.5
Vehicle stocking loan 1.0 - 1.0 2.1 - 2.1
Borrowings (gross of debtissue costs) - - - 30.0 = 30.0
Leases 2.5 - 2.5 4.8 0.1 4.9
Total 22.3 - 22.3 62.4 0.1 62.5

Gross

Expected carrying Loss
credit loss amount allowance Credit-
rate £m £m impaired
Accruedincome 3.7% 44.5 (1.7) No
Current 3.5% 27.8 (1.0) No
Past due1-30 days 9.5% 6.0 (0.6) No
Past due 31-60 days 36.0% 0.3 (0.1) No
Past due 61-90 days 92.8% 0.2 (0.2) No
More than 91days past due 81.6% 1.7 (1.4) No

80.5 (5.0)

The Group hasidentified specific balances for which it has provided animpairment allowance on
aline-by-line basis across allledgers, in both years. The allowance accountsinrespect of trade
receivables are used torecordimpairment losses unless the Group is satisfied that norecovery
of the amount owingis possible; at that point the amounts considered irrecoverable are written
off against the financial asset directly.

Trade and other payables are as disclosed within note 19, excluding vehicle stocking loan, other taxation
andsocialsecurity liabilities and deferredincome.
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Strategic report

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

IFRS 7 requires the contractual future interest cost of a financial liability to be included within the
above table. As disclosedin note 21 of these Consolidated financial statements, borrowings are
currently drawnunder a syndicated debt arrangement and repayments can be made at any time
without penalty. As such thereis no contractual future interest cost. Interestis payable on borrowings’
drawn amounts at arate of SONIA prevailing at the time of drawdown plus the applicable margin,

31. NET DEBT
Analysis of net debt

intoduring the year.

whichranges from1.2%to 2.1%, excluding the potential beneficialimpact of sustainability performance

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Net debtis calculated as totalborrowings and lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents.
Non-cash changesrepresent the effects of the recognition and subsequent amortisation of fees
relating to the bank facility, changing maturity profiles, acquisition of debt and new leases entered

At At
targets. Interest paidin the yearinrelation to borrowings amounted to £1.2m (2024: £3.1m). 1April Cash Non-cash 31March
2024 flow changes 2025
Similarly, repayments can be made at any time without penalty on the vehicle stocking loan. As such March 2025 £m £m £m £m
thereisno contractual future interest cost. Interestis payable on the loan balance at the prevailing Debtdue within one year - - - -
Bank of England Base Rate plus a 2% margin. Interest paidin the year inrelation to the vehicle stocking Debt due aftermore than one year 27.7 (30.3) 2.6 -
loanamounted to £0.3m (2024: £0.3m). Accruedinterest 0.2 (1.2) 1.1 0.1
The Company had no derivative financial liabilities in either year. Itis not expected that the cash flows ~ Leaseliabilities 4.8 (2.5) 0.2 2.5
includedin the maturity analysis could occur earlier or at significantly different amounts. Totaldebt and lease financing 32.7 (34.0) 3.9 2.6
Liquidity risk Cash and cash equivalents (18.7) 3.4 - (15.3)
The maturity of financial liabilities based on contracted cash flows is shown in the table below. Net debt/(cash) 14.0 (30.6) 3.9 (12.7)
This table has been drawn up using the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliestdate on which the Groupis obliged to pay. The table includes both interest and principal Inthe prior year, the vehicle stocking loan is not presented within net debt to be consistent
cash flows. FlOOtlng rateinterest payments have been calculated using therelevantinterestrates with the presentation of this balance, together withtherelatedinventory, as part of the Group’s
prevailing atthe yearend, where applicable. operating cycle.
Trade and Non-cash changes on debt due after more than one yearrelate to amortisation of debtissue costs.
other Vehicle
payables stockingloan Borrowings Leases Total Af At
Asat 31 March 2025 £m £m £m £m £m 1April Cash  Non-cash 31March
T 2023 flow changes 2024
Due within one year 18.8 1.0 - 2.1 21.9 March 2024 £m £m £m £m
Due withinone to two years - - - 0.3 0.3 Debtduewithinoneyear 1.1 (1.1) = =
Due withintwo to five years - - - 0.1 0.1 Debt due after more than one year 57.5 (30.5) 0.7 27.7
Due aftermore than five years - - - - - Vehicle stockingloan 3.0 = (3.0) =
Total 18.8 1.0 - 2.5 22.3 Accruedinterest 0.3 (3.4) 3.3 0.2
Lease liabilities 7.1 (2.7) 0.4 4.8
Trade and " N
other Vehicle Totaldebt and lease financing 69.0 (37.7) 1.4 32.7
bl tocking L B i L Total B
As at 31 March 2024 AR Ee:, S ofmn orrOW'lgn: euzen: OE; Cash and cash equivalents (16.6) (2.1 - (18.7)
Due within one year 25.5 2.1 - 2.4 30.0 Netdebt/(cash) 52.4 (39.8) 1.4 14.0
Due withinone to two years = = — 2.0 2.0
Due withintwo to five years = = 30.0 0.5 30.5
Due after more than five years = = = = =
Total 25.5 2.1 30.0 4.9 62.5

Fairvalues

The fairvalues of all financialinstrumentsin both years approximate to their carrying values.
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7 Strategic report Governance
Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31. NETDEBT CONTINUED
Reconciliation of movementsin liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities
Liabilities/(Assets) Equity
Borrowings
and accrued Lease Share Retained Oown Other

interest liabilities capital earnings shares held reserves Total
Balance as of 1 April 2024 27.9 4.8 9.2 1,420.5 (31.3) (846.1) 585.0
Changes from financing cash flows
Dividends paid to Company shareholders - - - (88.4) - - (88.4)
Drawdown of Syndicated RCF - - - - - - -
Repayment of Syndicated RCF (30.0) = = = = = (30.0)
Payment of refinancing fees (0.3) - - - - - (0.3)
Payment of interest on borrowings (1.2) - - - - = (1.2)
Payment of lease liabilities - (2.5) - - - - (2.5)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation - - (0.3) (176.6) = 0.3 (176.6)
Purchase of own shares for treasury - - - - (10.7) - (10.7)
Feesonrepurchase of ownshares = = = (0.9) = = (0.9)
Proceeds from exercise of share-basedincentives - = = 1.1 = = 1.1
Totalchanges from financing cash flows (31.5) (2.5) (0.3) (264.8) (10.7) 0.3 (309.5)
Other changes - liability related
Interestexpense 1.1 0.1 = = = = 1.2
Other 2.6 0.1 - - = - 2.7
Totalliability-related other changes 3.7 0.2 - - = = 3.9
Total equity-related other changes - - - 282.2 10.4 - 292.6
Balance as of 31 March 2025 0.1 2.5 8.9 1,437.9 (31.6) (845.8) 572.0
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: Strategic report Governance
Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31. NETDEBT CONTINUED
Liabilities/(Assets) Equity
Borrowings Vehicle
and accrued stocking Lease Share Retained own Other

interest loan liabilities capital earnings shares held reserves Total
Balance as of 1 April 2023 58.9 3.0 71 9.3 1,390.3 (26.0) (846.3) 596.3
Changes from financing cash flows
Dividends paid to Company shareholders - - - - (80.4) - = (80.4)
Drawdown of Syndicated RCF 57.0 = = = = = = 57.0
Repayment of Syndicated RCF (87.0) = = = = = = (87.0)
Repayment of other debt (1.1) - - - - - - (1.1)
Payment of refinancing fees (0.5) - - - - - = (0.5)
Payment of interest on borrowings (3.4) = = = = = = (3.4)
Payment of lease liabilities = = (2.7) = = = = (2.7)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation = = = (0.2) (158.9) = 0.2 (158.9)
Purchase of own shares for treasury - - = = = (11.0) = (11.0)
Feesonrepurchase of ownshares = = = = (0.9) = = (0.9)
Issue of ordinary shares = = = 0.1 = = = 0.1
Proceeds from exercise of share-based incentives - = = = 1.8 = = 1.8
Totalchanges from financing cash flows (35.0) - (2.7) (0.1) (238.4) (11.0) 0.2 (287.0)
Other changes - liability related
Interest expense 3.0 = 0.1 = = - - 3.1
Other 1.0 (3.0) 0.3 - - - - (1.7)
Totalliability-related other changes 4.0 (3.0) 0.4 - - - - 1.4
Total equity-related other changes - - - - 268.6 5.7 - 274.3
Balance as of 31 March 2024 27.9 - 4.8 9.2 1,420.5 (31.3) (846.1) 585.0
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7 Strategic report Governance FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS Allsubsidiaries have ayear end of 31 March, apart from Autorama Holding (Malta) Limited, which
Dealer Auction Limited has ayear end of 31 December.
The'Grouptrcmscncted _thefollowmg related party transactions withits joint venture, Dealer Auction S ST RER, Auie Ties erlLiiied surchesee BanaT isshe meep el o A ema Ui 1 1 3 — 1 6 8
Limited, during the period. . .
Limited from Auto Trader Group plc pursuant to anintra-group share purchase agreement.
The Group provided data services to Dealer Auctionunder a licence agreement established as part Auto Trader Limitedis therefore now the immediate parent company of Autorama UK Limited.
of the formation of the joint venture in January 2019. The value of services provided to Dealer Auction The ultimate parent company of the Autorama UK Limited continues to be Auto Trader Group plc. 114 Independent auditor’s
report to the members
9 9 ’ T At 31 March 2025 the Group'sinterestsinjoint ventures were: of Auto Trader Group plc

The Group recharged Dealer Auction for the provision of office space and laptops during the period, the

totalvalue of which was £16,500 (2024: £32,900). The service was provided to Dealer Auctionatanarm'’s Percentage  Percentage

Subsidi Country of registrati Class of dbyth dbyth i i

length basis and recorded within administrative expenses within the Consolidated income statement.  undertakings orincorporation ' principalactivity charesheld o oremt e roun 126 Consolidated income
i . . statement
Adividend from Dealer Auction Limited of £4.4m (2024: £3.9m) was received in the year. Btrenoiiiﬁuctlon England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary - 49%
(KDthiAr related partytransaftions s beengisclosed| . (E)Oeﬂeleéﬁggg)on England and Wales Dormantcompany  Ordinary - 49% 127 Consolidated statement
ey Management personnel compensation has been disclosedinnote 8. rati o8
/ 9 : 2 Lirﬁited' of comprehensive income
The Group sponsors a funded defined benefit pension scheme. Details of transactions with the A
uto Trader i - 9

Wiltshire (Bristol) Limited Retirement Benefits Scheme are set outin note 24. Autostock Limited' England andWales Dormantcompany  Ordinary 49% o1 Gereclies el seleree a e

Dealer Auction f _ 9%
33. SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINT VENTURES Servicas Limited! England and Wales Dormant company Ordinary 49%
Subsidiaries 129 Consolidated statement
At 31 March 2025 the Group’s subsidiaries were: 1. Registeredoffice addressis Central House, Leeds Road, Rothwell, Leeds, West Yorkshire, England, LS26 OJE. of Chonges in equity

Alljointventures have ayearend of 31 December.
Percentage Percentage

Subsidiary Country of registration Class of ownedbythe ownedbythe H

undertakings orincorporation Principal activity shares held parent Group 34. COMMITMENTS:NDSUBSEQUENT EVENTS forl f l g head off 130 COﬂSOlIdOted statement
On8January 2025, the Group signed an agreement for lease forits planned new head office.

Auto Trader England and Wales Intermediary holding Ordinary 100% 100% v o < o of cash flows

Holding Limited' The15-year leaseis expected to be signedin June 2025. In 2026, the Group's total depreciation

company and amortisation chargeis expected to be £22.9m (Auto Trader: £9.0m, Autorama: £0.8m and 131 N toth i@ e
ﬁutg)tTégder England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary - 100%  Group central costs £13.1m) and interest charges associated with the lease will be £1.7m. Jotes to the consolidate
imite _ _ _ _ financial statements
Trader Licensing England and Wales Dormant company ordinary _ 100% Theﬁt—ogt of the nevy premlsgs has sgbstohtlvelygommenceqondthe Grouphosmcurred costs
Limited' of £2.6min 2025 andis committed toincurring capitalexpenditure of c.£20min 2026, the contract
'ﬁUtF;erTO UKk England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary - 100% forwhichwassignedonié May2025. 161 Company balance sheet
imite
Vemeieme LimfiaeE 3 35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
England and Wales Dormantcompany  Ordinary - 100%  The Group believes thatit will not be directly impacted by the October 2024 Court of Appeal 162 Company statement
Autorama Holdslng Malta Investment company Ordinary - 100% judgmentonautomotive finance commission disclosure, whichis pending an appealjudgment ofchonges in equity
lipllisg] L zee for aprotected cell from the Supreme Court. Any possible obligationis not expected to be material.
Sloe Ol Network company 163 Notes to the Company
ue Owl Networ i i - 9 . .
Limited England and Wales Finance platform Ordinary 100% financial statements
1. Registered office addressis 4" Floor,1Tony Wilson Place, Manchester, M15 4FN. g .
2. Registered office addressis Maylands Avenue, Hemel Hempstead, Hertfordshire, HP2 7DE. 167 Unaudited flve-yeOr record
3. Registeredoffice addressis The Landmark, Level 2, Suite 1, Trig L-Iljun, Qormi, Malta.
168 Shareholderinformation
160

Auto Trader Group plc AnnualReportand Financial Statements 2025



Company balance sheet
At 31 March 2025

Strategic report

Governance FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2025

2024

Note £m £m
Fixed assets
Investments 5 1,240.0 1,403.9
1,240.0  1,4039
Current assets
Debtors 1,503.2 303.1
Cashatbankandinhand 5 0.2 0.1
1,503.4 303.2
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 6 (1,221.5) (1,118.3)
Net current assets 281.9 (815.1)
Net assets 1,521.9 588.8
Capitaland reserves
Called-up share capital 9 8.9 9.2
Share premium 182.6 182.6
Ownsharesheld 10 (31.6) (31.3)
Capitalredemptionreserve 1.7 1.4
Profit and loss account 1,360.3 426.9
Total equity 1,521.9 588.8

The profit for the year of the Company was £1,198.8m (2024: loss £39.7m). The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors

on 29 May 2025 and authorised forissue:

Jamie Warner

Chief Financial Officer

Auto Trader Group plc
Registered number: 09439967
29 May 2025
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7 Strategic report Governance
Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 March 2025
Capital
Share Share Profitand Ownshares redemption Total
capital premium loss account held reserve equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 31 March 2023 9.3 182.6 693.0 (26.0) 1.2 860.1
Loss for the year - - (39.7) - - (39.7)
Totalcomprehensive expense, net of tax - - (39.7) - - (39.7)
Transactions with owners:
Employee share schemes - value of employee services = = 17.9 = = 17.9
Exercise of employee share schemes - - (4.0) 5.8 = 1.8
Taximpact of employee share schemes - - (0.1) - - (0.1)
Purchase of own shares for treasury - - - (1.1) - (11.1)
Purchase of ownshares for cancellation (0.2) - (159.7) - 0.2 (159.7)
Issue of ordinary shares 0.1 - (0.1) - - -
Dividends paid - - (80.4) - = (80.4)
Total transactions with owners recognised directly in equity (0.1) = (226.4) (5.3) 0.2 (231.6)
Balance at 31 March 2024 9.2 182.6 426.9 (31.3) 1.4 588.8
Profit for the year - - 1,198.8 - - 1,198.8
Totalcomprehensive income, net of tax - - 1,198.8 - - 1,198.8
Transactions with owners:
Employee share schemes - value of employee services - - 9.7 - - 9.7
Exercise of employee share schemes — - (9.4) 10.5 = 1.1
Taximpact of employee share schemes — — 0.1 — = 0.1
Purchase of ownshares for treasury - - - (10.8) - (10.8)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation (0.3) = (177.4) = 0.3 (177.4)
Dividends paid = = (88.4) = = (88.4)
Totaltransactions with ownersrecognised directly in equity (0.3) - (265.4) (0.3) 0.3 (265.7)
Balance at 31 March 2025 8.9 182.6 1,360.3 (31.6) 1.7 1,521.9

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Auto Trader Group plcis a public limited company whichis listed on the London Stock Exchange and
isdomiciled and incorporatedin the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The Company
wasincorporated oni13 February 2015.

Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

The Company financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc have been preparedincompliance
with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced
Disclosure Framework’ applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland (‘FRS101") and
the Companies Act 2006.

Inpreparing these financial statements, the Company applies recognition, measurementand
disclosure requirements of UK-adopted international accounting standards (‘Adopted IFRSs’),
but makes amendments where necessaryin order to comply with the Companies Act 2006 and
has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS101in respect of the following
disclosures:

- noseparate parentcompany cash flow statement with related notes has beenincluded;

- noseparate parent company statement of comprehensive income withrelated notes has
beenincluded; and

- Key Management personnel compensation has notbeenincluded asecond time.

As the Group financial statements include the equivalent disclosures, the Company has also taken
the exemptionsunder FRS 101 available inrespect of the certain disclosures required by IFRS 2 - Share-
Based Paymentsinrespect of group settled share-based payments, IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement
and the disclosures required by IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

The Company financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
as modified for the revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities through profit or loss.
The currentyear financialinformation presentedis at and for the year ended 31 March 2025.
The comparative financialinformation presentedis at and for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Company’s accounting policies are the same as those set outin note 1to the Consolidated
financial statements.

The Directors have used the going concern principle on the basis that the current profitable financial
projections and facilities of the consolidated Group will continue in operation for a period not less
than12 months from the date of thisreport.

The Company financial statements have been preparedin sterling (£), whichis the functional and
presentational currency of the Company, and have been rounded to the nearest hundred thousand
(£0.1m) except where otherwise indicated.

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, an entity profit and loss accountis not
included as part of the published Consolidated financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc.
The profit for the financial period dealt within the financial statements of the parent company was
£1,198.8m (2024: loss of £39.7m).

Amounts paid to the Company’s auditorinrespect of the statutory audit were £259,800 (2024: £228,500).
The charge was borne by a subsidiary company and notrecharged.
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Estimation techniques

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS101requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise their judgementin the process of
applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areainvolving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements,
isthe carrying value of investments.

The Group considers annually whether there is anindicator that the carrying value of investments
may have suffered animpairment,in accordance with the accounting policy stated. Where an
indicatorisidentified, the recoverable amounts of investments are determined based on value-in-use
calculations, whichrequire the use of estimates.

Share-based payments

The Company grants equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees, who are employed
directly by subsidiary Group undertakings. The equity-settled share-based payments granted to
employees across the Group areinrespect of ordinary sharesinthe Company. The accounting policy
covering the fair value calculation of these equity-settled share-based payments can be foundin
note 2 to the Consolidated financial statements. The Companyis not reimbursed for the expense
relating to equity-settled share-based payments granted to employees of its subsidiaries and
therefore recognises anincrease ininvestmentin subsidiaries.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investmentsin subsidiaries are held at cost, less any provision forimpairment. Annually, the Directors
consider whether any events or circumstances have occurred that could indicate that the carrying
amount of fixed assetinvestments may notbe recoverable. If such circumstances do exist, a full
impairmentreview is undertaken to establish whether the carrying amount exceeds the higher of
netrealisable value orvalueinuse. If thisis the case, animpairment charge isrecorded to reduce

the carrying value of the related investment.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shownin equity as adeduction from the proceeds.

Where the Group purchases its own equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from
equity attributable to the Group’s shareholders. Where such shares are subsequently cancelled, the
nominalvalue of the shares repurchasedis deducted from share capital and transferred to a capital
redemptionreserve. Where the Group purchases its own equity share capital to hold in treasury, the
consideration paid for the sharesis shown as own shares held within equity.

Shares held by the Employee Share Option Trust
Sharesinthe Company held by the Employee Share Option Trust (‘ESOT’) are includedin the balance
sheetatcost asadeduction fromequity.
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Notes to the Company financial statements continued

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Taxation

UK corporationtaxis provided at amounts expected to be paid or recovered using the taxrates
and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxisrecognisedinrespectof all temporary differences thathave originated but not
reversed atthe balance sheet date, where transactions or events that resultin an obligation to pay
more taxinthe future or arightto pay less taxin the future have occurred on the balance sheet date.

Anetdeferredtaxassetisregarded asrecoverable and therefore recognised only when, onthe basis
of allevidence available, it can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable
profits against which to recover carried-forward tax losses and from which the future reversal of
underlying temporary differences can be deducted.

Deferred taxis measured at the average rates that are expected to apply in the periodsin which the
temporary differences are expected toreverse based onthe taxrates and laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred taxis measured onan
undiscounted basis.

Financialinstruments

Afinancial asset (unlessitis atrade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial
liabilityisinitially measured at fair value plus, for anitem not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable toits acquisition orissue. A trade receivable without
asignificant financing componentisinitially measured at the transaction price.

Under IFRS 9, trade receivablesincluding accrued income, without a significant financing component,
are classified and held at amortised cost, being initially measured at the transaction price and
subsequently measured at amortised cost less any impairment loss.

The Company recognises lifetime expected creditlosses ('ECLs’) for trade receivables and accrued
income. The expected credit losses are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Company’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for any macro-economic factors. At 31 March 2024, ECLs
reflected macro-economic uncertainty around retailer profitability due to persistent high inflation,
highinterestrates and the upcoming UK general election. At 31 March 2025, ECLs were adjusted to
reflect lower levels of inflation and falling interest rates while taking into consideration the cost
pressures faced by retailer customers.

The Company assesses whether a financial assetisin default on a case-by-case basis wheniit
becomes probable that the customeris unlikely to pay its credit obligations. The gross carrying
amount of a financial assetis written off when the Company has no reasonable expectations of
recovering a financial assetinits entirety or a portion thereof. For all customers, the Company
individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on
whether there is areasonable expectation of recovery. The Company expects no significant
recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written of f could still
be subject to enforcement activitiesin order to comply with the Company’s procedures for
recovery of amounts due.
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Ateachreporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost
are credit-impaired. Afinancial assetis ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events thathave a
detrimentalimpactonthe estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Financialliabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through profitand loss.
Afinancialliability is classified as at fair value through profit and loss if itis classified as held-for-
trading, itis a derivative, oritis designated as such oninitialrecognition and measured at fair value
and netgains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other
financialliabilities, including trade payables, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss onderecognitionis also recognisedin profit or loss.

Dividend distribution

Dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Company'’s financial
statementsin the periodin which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholdersin
the case of finaldividends. Inrespect of interim dividends, these are recognised once paid.

2. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
The Company has no employees other than the Directors. Full details of the Directors’ emoluments are
setoutinnote 8tothe Consolidated financial statements.

3.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

2025 2024

£m £m
At beginning of the period 1,403.9 1,427.2
Hive down - investmentin subsidiary (170.8) =
Additions - share-based payments 6.9 4.7
Additions - share-based payments relating to acquisition - 10.4
Additions - cash settlement of deferred consideration - 0.7
Cost of investments 1,240.0 1,443.0
Impairment - investmentin subsidiary - (39.1)
Netbookvalue at end of the year 1,240.0 1,403.9

Subsidiary undertakings are disclosed within note 33 to the Consolidated financial statements.
The Company directly owns sharesin one subsidiary, Auto Trader Holding Limited.

The additionsin the current period relate to equity-settled share-based payments granted to the
employees of subsidiary companies. The £10.4m and £0.7m additionsin the prior period were the
remaining deferred considerationrelating to the acquisition of Autorama.

On19 September 2024, Auto Trader Limited purchased100% of the share capital of Autorama UK
Limited from Auto Trader Group plc pursuant to anintra-group share purchase agreement.
Auto Trader Limited is therefore now the immediate parent company of Autorama UK Limited.
The ultimate parent company of Autorama UK Limited continues to be Auto Trader Group plc.

164

Auto Trader Group plc AnnualReportand Financial Statements 2025

113 -168

114 Independent auditor’s
report to the members
of Auto Trader Group plc

126 Consolidatedincome
statement

127 Consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

128 Consolidated balance sheet

129 Consolidated statement
of changesin equity

130 Consolidated statement
of cash flows

131 Notestothe consolidated
financial statements

161 Company balance sheet

162 Company statement
of changesin equity

163 Notes to the Company
financial statements

167 Unaudited five-yearrecord

168 Shareholderinformation




Notes to the Company financial statements continued

3.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES CONTINUED

Inthe prioryear animpairment charge of £39.Im was recognised against the investmentin Autorama
UK Limited, principally due to the requirementin the parent company to capitalise the £49.9m
share-based paymentrelating to the deferred consideration. Noimpairment charge was recognised
forthe Group.

The Group’s approach toimpairment testing is disclosed in note 12 to the Consolidated
financial statements.

Noimpairmentindicators were identified for the investmentin Auto Trader Holding Limited at either
the current or prioryearend.

4. DEBTORS
2025 2024
£m £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 1,501.0 301.1
Otherreceivables 0.4 0.3
Deferred tax asset 1.8 1.7
Total 1,503.2 303.1

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have no fixed date
of repayment. Not all of these amounts are expected to be settled in the next12 months. Allamounts
are owed by Auto Trader Holding Limited. No expected credit loss has been recognised on the basis
of immateriality.

5. CASH AT BANKAND INHAND

2025 2024

£m £m

Cashatbankandinhand 0.2 0.1
6.CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUEWITHIN ONE YEAR

2025 2024

£m £m

Amounts owed to Group undertakings (1,219.6) (1,115.8)

Accruals and deferredincome (1.9) (2.5)

Total (1,221.5) (1,118.3)

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have no fixed date
of repayment.
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2025 2024
Financial assets £m £m
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 1,501.4 301.4

2025 2024
Financialliabilities £m £m
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (1,221.5) (1,118.3)

Current assets and liabilities
Financialinstruments included within current assets and liabilities (excluding cash and borrowings)
are generally short terminnature and accordingly their fair values approximate to their book values.

8. DIVIDENDS
Dividends declared and paid by the Company were as follows:

2025 2024
Pence Pence

pershare £m pershare £m

2024 finaldividend paid 6.4 57.3 5.6 51.3

2025interim dividend paid 3.5 31.1 3.2 29.1

9.9 88.4 8.8 80.4

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 of 7.1p per share, totalling £62.5m, is
subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting ('AGM’) and hence has not been
included as aliability in the financial statements.

The 2024 finaldividend paid on 27 September 2024 was £57.3m. The 2025 interim dividend paid
on 24 January 2025 was £31.1m.

The Directors’ policy with regard to future dividends is set outin the Financial review on page 28.
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Notes to the Company financial statements continued

9. CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL

2025 2024

Number Amount Number Amount
Share capital ‘000 £m ‘000 £m
Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares
ofip each
At1April 907,214 9.2 923,075 9.3
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (22,513) (0.3) (23,711) (0.2)
Issue of shares - - 7,850 0.1
Total 884,701 8.9 907,214 9.2

Under authority passed at the 2024 AGM the Company is authorised to make market purchases of
up to amaximum of 10% (89,654,939) of its own ordinary shares (excluding shares held in treasury),
subject to minimum and maximum price restrictions.

Inthe yearended 31 March 2025, a total of 23,873,028 ordinary shares of £0.01 were purchased. The
average price paid was 783.2p with a total consideration paid (including fees of £0.9m) of £188.2m.
Of allshares purchased, 1,360,000 were held in treasury with 22,513,028 being cancelled. In the prior
year, 7,849,782 ordinary shares were issued for the settlement of share-based payments.

Included withinsharesinissue at 31 March 2025 are 294,600 (2024: 312,831) shares held by the ESOT
and 4,600,897 (2024: 4,899,346) shares held in treasury, as detailed in note 10.

10. OWN SHARES HELD

ESOT shares Treasury
reserve shares Total
Ownsharesheld -£m £m £m £m
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2023 (0.4) (25.6) (26.0)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - (1. (1.
Share-basedincentives = 5.8 5.8
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2024 (0.4) (30.9) (31.3)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury = (10.8) (10.8)
Share-basedincentives = 10.5 10.5
Own sshares held as at 31 March 2025 (0.4) (31.2) (31.6)
ESOT shares Treasury Total
reserve shares number of
Number of Numberof ownshares
Ownshares held -number shares shares held
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2023 340,196 4,371,505 4,711,701
Transfer of shares from ESOT (27,365) - (27,365)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - 1,496,445 1,496,445
Share-basedincentives exercisedin the year - (968,604) (968,604)
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2024 312,831 4,899,346 5,212,177
Transfer of shares from ESOT (18,231) - (18,231)
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - 1,360,000 1,360,000
Share-basedincentives exercisedin the year - (1,658,449) (1,658,449)

Ownshares held as at 31 March 2025 294,600 4,600,897 4,895,497
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11. RELATED PARTIES
During the year,amanagement charge of £6.9m (2024: £6.7m) was received from Auto Trader Limited
inrespect of servicesrendered.

Attheyearend, balances outstanding with other Group undertakings were £1,501.0m and £1,219.6m
respectively for debtors and creditors (2024: £301.1m and £1,115.8m) as set outin notes 4 and 6.

12. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

Inthe prior period the Company became a financial guarantor for the arrangement between
Autorama UK Limited and its vehicle stocking loan provider, Lombard North Central PLC. As at
31March 2025, the maximum amount the Company would be required to pay if called uponis £3.6m,
plusinterest (2024: £3.6m).

The Companyis also a guarantor for borrowings by its subsidiaries under the Revolving Credit Facility.
As at 31 March 2025, the maximum amount the Company would be required to pay if called uponis the
amountdrawn of £nil plus accruedinterest (2024: £30.0m).

The fair value of the above intra-group guarantees has not beenrecorded as a liability in the
Company's balance sheet as they are not considered to be a material liability.
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Unaudited five-year record

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

£m £m £m £m £m
Trade 509.1 475.7 427.4 388.3 225.2
Consumer Services 42.4 39.6 34.5 BERS) 26.6 1 1 3 - 1 6 8
Manufacturerand Agency 13.3 14.4 1.1 1.1 1.0
Autorama 36.3 41.2 27.2 = = X
Revenue 601.1 570.9 500.2 432.7 262.8 114 Independentauditor’s
Operating costs (227.9) (225.0) (225.1) (132.0) (104.0) report to the members
Share of profit from joint ventures 3.6 2.8 2.5 2.9 2.4 of Auto Trader Group plc
Operating profit 376.8 348.7 277.6 303.6 161.2
Netinterest expense (1.1) (3.5) (3.1) (2.6) (3.8) 126 Consolidatedincome
Profit on disposal of subsidiary - - 191 - - statement
Profit before taxation 375.7 345.2 293.6 301.0 157.4
Taxation (93.) (88.3) (59.7) (56.3) (29.6) 127 Consolidated statement
Profit after taxation 282.6 256.9 233.9 2447 127.8 of comprehensive income
Net assets 569.4 552.3 527.3 472.5 458.7 128 Consolidated balance sheet
Netbankdebt/(cash)(gross bank debtless cash) (15.3) 1.3 43.4 (51.3) (15.7)
Cashgenerated from operations 399.7 379.0 327.4 328.1 152.9 129 Consolidated statement
Basic EPS (pence) 31.7 28.2 25.0 25.6 13.2 of chonges EGSY
Diluted EPS (pence) 31.6 28.1 24.8 25.6 13.2 .
Dividends declared per share (pence) 10.6 9.6 8.4 8.2 5.0 130 Consolidated statement
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2025-2026

Annual General Meeting 18 September 2025
2025 half-yearresults 6 November 2025
2025 full-yearresults May 2026
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SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

Ourregistrar will be pleased to deal with any
questionsregarding your shareholdings (see
contact details above). Alternatively, if you have
internet access, you can access shareview.co.uk
where you canview and manage all aspects of
your shareholding securely including electronic
communications, account enquiries or
amendmentto address.

INVESTOR RELATIONS WEBSITE
Theinvestorrelations section of our website,
plc.autotrader.co.uk/investors, provides further
information for anyone interestedin Auto Trader.
In addition to the Annual Report and Financial
Statements and share price, Company
announcementsincluding the full-year results
announcements and associated presentations
are also published there.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certainstatementsin thisannouncement
constitute forward looking statements
(including beliefs or opinions). ‘Forward looking
statements’ are sometimes identified by the use
of forward looking terminology, including the
terms ‘believes’, ‘estimates’, ‘aims’, ‘anticipates’,
‘expects’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘predicts’, ‘'may’, ‘will’,
‘could’, ‘'shall’, ‘risk’, ‘targets’, ‘forecasts’, ‘'should’,
‘guidance’, ‘continues’, ‘assumes’ or ‘positioned’
or,ineach case, theirnegative or other variations
orcomparable terminology. Any statementin
thisannouncement thatis not a statement of
historical factincluding, without limitation, those
regarding the Company'’s future expectations,
operations, financial performance, financial
condition and businessis a forward looking
statement. Such forward looking statements
are subject to known and unknown risks and
uncertainties, because theyrelate to events that

may or may notoccurinthe future, that may
cause actualresults to differ materially

from those expressed orimplied by such
forward looking statements. These risks and
uncertainties include, among other factors,
changing economic, financial, business or other
market conditions. These and other factors
could adversely affect the outcome and
financial effects of the plans and events
describedin thisresults announcement. Asa
result, you are cautioned not to place reliance
onsuch forward looking statements, which are
not guarantees of future performance and the
actualresults of operations, financial condition
and liquidity, and the development of the
industryin which the Group operates may differ
materially fromthose madein or suggested

by the forward looking statements setoutin
thisannouncement. Except asisrequired by
applicable laws andregulatory obligations,
noundertakingis given toupdate the
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forward looking statements contained in this
announcement, whether as aresult of new
information, future events or otherwise. Nothing
inthisannouncement should be construed asa
profit forecast. Thisannouncementhas been
prepared forthe Company’s group as a whole
and, therefore, gives greater emphasis to those
matters which are significant to the Company
and its subsidiary undertakings when viewed
asawhole.
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